# FRANKLIN-McKINLEY

# **EDUCATION ASSOCIATION**

# **AND**

# FRANKLIN-McKINLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT

# **AGREEMENT**



July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2021

# Table of Contents

ARTICLE I:	AGREEMENT	2
ARTICLE II:	DEFINITIONS	4
ARTICLE III:	COMPENSATION	7
ARTICLE IV:	HOURS OF EMPLOYMENT	15
ARTICLE V	I.F.AVES	21
ARTICLE VI:	ASSIGNMENT, TRANSFER AND EARLY RETIREMENT	38
ARTICLE VII:	SAFETY CONDITIONS	45
ARTICLE VIII:	CLASS SIZE	49
ARTICLE IX:	EVALUATION	54
ARTICLE X:	GRIEVANCES (See Article II, 2.23-2.25)	62
ARTICLE XI:	SUMMER SCHOOL	67
ARTICLE XII:	ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY	68
ARTICLE XIII:	NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES	70
ARTICLE XIV:	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	72
ARTICLE XV:	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	75
ARTICLE XVI:	NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT	76
ARTICLE XVII:	EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	77
ARTICLE XVIII:	TEACHER RIGHTS	79
ARTICLE XIX:	SITE-BASED DECISION MAKING	81
ARTICLE XX	PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW	83
ARTICLE XXI	DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES AND DISMISSAL	90

### ARTICLE I: AGREEMENT

#### I.I Term

- 1.1.1 The Articles and provisions contained herein constitute a bilateral and binding agreement ("Agreement") by and between the Governing Board of the Franklin-McKinley School District ("District" or "FMSD") and the Franklin-McKinley Education Association/CTA/NEA ("Association" or "FMEA"). This Agreement is entered into pursuant to Chapter 10.7, Sections 3540-3549.3, of the Government Code ("Act").
- 1.1.2 Any agreement reached between the parties shall be reduced to writing.
- 1.1.3 This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall be effective as of July 1, 2018 and shall continue in effect until June 30, 2021. Negotiations shall be closed for the term of this Agreement except, upon request of the Board of Directors of FMEA. The Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources of the District shall meet with the said Board or their designated representative(s) within ten (10) days to discuss any issues or concerns and the reopening by mutual agreement of specific sections or articles within this Agreement.

## 1.2 Recognition

The District hereby recognizes the Association as exclusive representative for the unit of employees recognized by the District per its resolution dated July 21, 1976, and as mutually modified, as follows:

Classroom Teachers
Teachers on Special Assignment
Counselors
Librarians
Music Teachers
Nurses
Psychologists
Special Day Class Teachers
Speech Therapists
Project Specialists
Resource Specialists
Adapted Physical Education Teachers
Social Workers

Specifically excluded from recognition are those employees who are management, supervisory or confidential employees and employees who are in the following classifications:

Substitute Teachers Long-term Substitute Teachers

#### ARTICLE II: DEFINITIONS

- 2.1 For the purpose of this Agreement, the term "he" or "she" shall refer to both male and female.
- A "Part-time Unit Member" is a unit member who is assigned to his/her position less than full time.
- 2.3 "Days" means any day when the District Service Center is open. For the purpose of filing and processing grievances the District Service Center shall be considered closed during the fall, winter, and spring breaks. When counting days, day one is the following workday.
- 2.4 "Inservice Meetings" are those activities scheduled for the total school staff by the administration, which are designed to improve teacher competency.
- 2.5 An "Opening" is an unfilled bargaining unit position.
  - 2.5.1 A "Position" shall include title and location, with grade level, and subject area as appropriate.
- 2.6 "Assignment" is the placement of a unit member in a specific position.
- 2.7 "Reassignment" is the placement of a unit member in a different position.
- A "Transfer" is the placement of a unit member in a specific position at a different site.
- 2.9 "Employee-requested Transfer or Reassignment" means a transfer or reassignment, which is employee requested.
- 2.10 "Administrative Transfer or Reassignment" is a transfer or reassignment initiated and effected at the discretion of the District.
- 2.11 "Grade-level Changes" is the placement of a unit member in a different grade level.
- 2.12 "Emergency" means a sudden unexpected happening, or an unforcseen occurrence or condition, or a sudden or unexpected occasion for action beyond the control of the administration. Routine bus scheduling is excluded from this definition of emergency.
- A "Complaint" is a verbal or written accusation of professional misconduct, illegal activity or other wrongdoing.
- 2.14 "Adjunct Duties" means other non-instructional duties.

- 2.15 "Assessment" is the act or process of gathering data or information for the purpose of appraising the level of achievement.
- 2.16 "Evaluation" is the process of making considered judgments concerning the degree of accomplishments of stated purposes.
- 2.17 "Evaluator" is an administrator designated by the District who is responsible for carrying out the evaluation process.
- 2.18 "Evaluatee" is the person whose performance is being evaluated.
- 2.19 "Goal" means a statement of broad direction or intent, which is generalized and timeless and is not concerned with a particular achievement within a specified time period.
- 2.20 "Objective" means a measurable performance stated in behavioral terms specifying criteria for attainment.
- 2.21 "Reemploy with Qualifications" means continued employment is conditional upon correction of specified areas needing improvement.
- A "Grievance" (Article X) is a written allegation by the grievant that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of the specific provision(s) of this Agreement which adversely and directly affects the grievant. A grievance shall not include, and the grievance procedure shall not apply to, any of the following:
  - 1. Any proceeding for the dismissal of a probationary or permanent unit member.
  - 2. Any proceeding for the layoff of a probationary or permanent unit member.
  - 3. Any attempt to alter or change the provisions of the agreement by filing a grievance.
  - 4. The evaluation of members of the unit, except of the violation of procedural matters.
- A "Grievant" may be one or more employees of the unit alleging a grievance or the Association alleging a violation of its rights as contained in Article XII, Organizational Security; Article XIII, Negotiation Procedures; and Article XIV, Association Rights.
- 2.24 "Immediate Supervisor" is the lowest level administrator having immediate jurisdiction over the grievant who has been designated to adjust grievances.

- 2.25 "Representative of the Grievant" is a person chosen by the Association to represent the grievant.
- 2.26 "Elementary Combination Class" is a class comprised of students from more than one (1) grade level in grades K-6.
- 2.27 "Traditional School" refers to a school in which all students attend school on a ten (10) month basis from September to June.
- 2.28 "School Year" means the total number of days between July 1st of one (1) calendar year and June 30th of the next calendar year.
- 2.29 "Per Diem Rate" is a unit member's annual base salary, divided by the number of regular workdays.
- 2.30 "Qualified Inspector" is a person with experience and/or job responsibilities in the area of the specific hazardous condition or a person with specific licensing or training to provide the specific, required inspection.
- 2.31 "Domestic Partner" is a registered domestic partner or as otherwise defined by the insurance carrier.
- 2.32 "Staff Meetings" are directed by the site administrator for the purpose of managing the site and curriculum. Staff meetings also include grade level or collaboration meetings. The site administrator has the sole discretion to determine the agenda and the manner in which items are added to or removed from the agenda. The site administrator also has the sole discretion to determine how staff meetings are scheduled and run. Staff meetings are generally held on Tuesday but may also be held at other times within the sole discretion of the site administrator.

## ARTICLE III: COMPENSATION

#### 3.1 Salaries

3.1.1 For the 2018-2019 school year the salary schedule shall be increased by an equivalent of two and one half percent (2.5%) retroactive to July 1, 2018. In addition, a one-time off schedule payment equivalent to one percent (1%) will be provided in the first full pay period following ratification and approval of the Agreement.

The certificated salary schedule, exclusive of Psychologists, Speech Therapists and Nurses shall be as indicated in Appendix G-1, and the salary schedule for Psychologists, Speech Therapists and Nurses shall be as indicated in Appendix G-2.

- 3.1.2 For the 2019-2020 fiscal year and the 2020-2021 fiscal year, compensation shall be reopened for negotiations. Each party shall have the right to reopen one additional contract article of their choice for the 2019-2020 and 2020-2021 reopener negotiations.
- 3.1.3 The certificated salary schedules referenced above are based upon a one hundred eighty-four (184) work day/work year. The Psychologists, Speech Therapist, and Nurses schedule is based upon a one hundred ninety-four (194) work day/work year. Any additional District-required work days as part of a unit member's regular contract assignment shall be compensated at a per diem rate calculated upon base salary.
- A salary schedule shall be distributed to each unit member within thirty (30) days of each salary adjustment.
- 3.1.5 Unit members who accompany students on outdoor-education overnight trips shall receive a stipend or materials allowance of One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00) per day.
- 3.1.6 Any unit member who possesses a Santa Clara County Office of Education registered Special Authorization in Bilingual Cross-Cultural Competence or Bilingual Cross-Cultural Language and Academic Development shall receive a one-time off-salary-schedule bonus of One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars (\$1,800.00).
- 3.1.7 A part-time unit member shall receive pro-rata pay based on the salary schedules set forth in Appendix G.

- In case of a late pay warrant, and upon request, the District shall furnish the unit member with a cash advance check.
- 3.1.9 Newly employed unit members on the certificated salary schedule are limited to a maximum of twelve (12) years previous teaching experience at the time of employment. Credit for previous teaching experience shall be granted when properly documented and verified. Any unit member placed below the 12-year level shall move to the next year's salary level following their first year of employment so long as he/she worked at least 75% of the days school was in session. Any new unit member who possesses a teaching credential from an out-of-state institution that confers a teaching credential and a Bachelor's degree simultaneously shall be granted the equivalent of a BA+30 for placement on the salary schedule.
  - 3.1.9.1 Outside experience must have been earned from performance of duties which meet the following criteria:
    - duties were completed while working in a school or institution while in possession of a valid teaching credential which is being used to apply for the FMSD position and;
    - 2. the experience was within a Pre-K-12 assignment.
- 3.1.10 A unit member must have served in a full-time assignment while under contract for at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the days school was in session (twelve [12] month school year calendar) in order to have the year count as a year of experience for salary purposes. A unit member serving less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the days school was in session shall be allowed to compute the seventy-five percent (75%) requirement for salary purposes over a two (2) consecutive year period. When the unit member's aggregate over the two (2) years equals seventy-five percent (75%) of the days school is to be in session during a school year, the unit member shall be granted credit for a year of experience for salary purposes beginning the following school year.

# 3.1.11 College Units/Earned Degrees

Incentive increments are added for earned degrees beyond the B.A. degree and increments are also awarded for specific numbers of semester units earned after the B.A. has been granted.

- 3.1.11.1 All units offered to meet the requirements for Columns II, III, IV, and V must be completed through an accredited institution which grants the B.A., B.S., or B.E. degrees; or at District-sponsored workshops or community colleges when pre-approved by Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.
- 3.1.11.2 All credit shall be evaluated in semester units. (A quarter unit equals two-thirds [2/3] of one [1] semester unit.) Unit requirements for Columns II, III, IV and V must be completed after the B.A. has been granted.
- 3.1.11.3 Normally, all work submitted for salary class advancement must carry upper division or graduate credit earned in an accredited four (4) year college or university. Some lower division courses may be related to the unit member's assignment, e.g., art for primary teachers, conversational Spanish; however, prior approval for salary credit for such courses must be obtained through the Human Resources Office or the Superintendent.
- 3.1.11.4 In order for a salary class change to be made or a professional growth increment requirement to be satisfied for a school year, an official transcript of work completed by September 1 must be on file in the Human Resources Office on or before the last Friday in October.
- 3.1.11.5 All grade cards must be submitted immediately upon completion of a course, to be returned upon receipt of a complete transcript. A grade of "C" (average) or better in any approved course is required for credit on the salary schedule. If no letter grade is indicated, a "P" or "+" shall meet course grade requirements.
- 3.1.11.6 Unit members shall be given credit for a maximum of two (2) masters degrees, provided the major coursework for each degree is exclusive of the other.
- 3.1.11.7 "Career increments" are compensation amounts, which recognize a unit member's service with the Franklin-McKinley School District.

#### 3.1.12 Travel Credit

3.1.12.1 Travel credit shall be granted as means of improving skills and knowledge of unit members as certificated employees of the District.

- 3.1.12.2 All inquiries, requests for, and evaluations related to travel credit shall be conducted by the Travel Credit Committee. Recommendations shall be made to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and units recorded by the Human Resources Office.
- 3.1.12.3 Upon approval of the Committee, unit members shall receive credit for approved travel.

#### 3.1.12.4 Travel Credit Committee

The Travel Credit Committee shall be composed of the following persons:

- District office administrator as chairperson;
- b. One (1) building level administrator appointed by the Superintendent or designee; and
- c. Two (2) non-administrative certificated employees selected by the Association. A unit employee who has submitted a request for travel credit cannot serve as a member of the Travel Credit Committee.

# 3.1.12.5 Application for Travel Credit

An applicant shall submit an Application for Travel Credit/Itinerary no later than May 1st for travel during June through November and October 1st for travel during December through May. A minimum of 13 days of consecutive travel shall occur in order to receive travel credit.

- 3.1.12.6 The Travel Credit Committee shall review each application to determine whether the proposed trip merits the awarding of preliminary travel credit, pending later receipt of the Travel Report. Applicants shall be notified in writing of the decision of the Travel Credit Committee prior to departure.
- 3.1.12.7 On or before September 20th, a unit member shall file a Travel Report, giving evidence to the Travel Credit Committee that the program of travel has been carried out. The following requirements must be met at this time:

- a. The applicant shall have written, typed, and submitted an explanatory essay or detailed outline, which demonstrates a standard of professional caliber. The outline or essay must also be supplemented by material of the applicant's choice or preference, such as slides, film, scrapbook, coin collection, or similar materials.
- b. The applicant shall be prepared and willing to serve as a resource person, either through the lending of personal materials or services for a period not to exceed two (2) years.
- c. The applicant shall submit proof of travel such as transportation or lodging receipts.
- d. A unit member denied travel credit may resubmit the Travel Report within two (2) weeks of the original denial.

#### 3.1.12.8 Credit for Travel

Credit for Travel shall be granted in the form of units for professional growth. Such credit shall be considered the equivalent of college units earned on a semester basis and shall allow advancement on the salary schedule not to exceed six (6) of the fifteen (15) units.

- 3.1.12.9 The number of travel units shall be awarded on the following basis:
  - a. Travel within the Continental United States up to one (1) unit for each two (2) weeks of travel.
  - b. Travel outside the United States (Hawaii and Alaska included) up to one (1) unit for each week of travel.

## 3.1.12.10 Unacceptable Travel Credit

A unit member cannot travel in connection with outside employment or a program where the unit member received pay or expenses for travel. Travel cannot be done in connection with a college or university travel course where credit is granted. 3.1.12.11 By October 10, the Travel Credit Committee, through the Human Resources Office, shall notify each applicant in writing regarding the credit allowed.

# 3.2 Fringe Benefits

The District provides fringe benefits to unit members and their dependents as set forth below. The District also provides fringe benefits to domestic partners of unit members, subject to the requirements, verification, etc. of the benefit carriers.

- 3.2.1 The District shall pay the premium cost for dental and vision coverage for full-time unit members, and their dependents as provided below:
- For the each calendar year, the District shall pay for any premium increase beyond the previous calendar year premium up to 6%. Any difference will be deducted from the unit member's paycheck.
  - 3.2.2.1 An example of the application of section 3.2.2 is as follows:
    - a. If the hypothetical monthly premium in 2018 is \$500;
    - b. And the premiums increase by 10% for 2019 to raise the new monthly premium to \$550;
    - c. The District would assume the first 6% of the 10% premium increase;
    - d. Therefore, the District's 2019 monthly contribution would increase to \$530 (\$500 X 6% = \$30) and the employee would contribute the remaining \$20 per month; and
    - e. The \$530 District contribution level would become the new base.
- 3.2.3 A part-time unit member shall receive pro-rata fringe benefits with the option to receive full insurance coverage upon reimbursement to the District subject to conditions stipulated by the carrier.
- 3.2.4 If a unit member dies while in the employment of the District, dependent survivors shall continue to receive the health and dental benefits of the deceased for the remainder of the school year.
- 3.2.5 Retirces shall be permitted to remain on District-paid health plans of their choice at their own expense, if the carrier so provides. This provision is nongrievable.

- 3.2.6 The District shall make available to the Association financial reports on VSP and Delta Dental usage so that the Association is made aware of claims experience under the administrative funding model. The District shall maintain separate accounts for VSP premiums and expenses and for Delta Dental premiums and expenses.
- 3.2.7 The District and Association shall enter into an agreement to provide the IRS Section 125 Plan option for unit members. Offering the IRS Section 125 Plan option shall not affect the existing fringe benefits nor be considered a cafeteria plan. Contributions to the IRS Section 125 Plan shall be limited to unit member's share of medical premiums, eligible insurance programs, unreimbursed medical costs and dependent care at the option of the unit member.
- 3.2.8 The District and the Association shall work together on a joint Health Benefits Committee that works closely with the District's insurance consultant and/or other health care providers. This joint Health Benefits Committee shall consist of up to three FMEA representatives, up to three CSEA representatives (if agreed to by CSEA) and up to three District representatives in addition to the Deputy Superintendent of Business Services and the Director of Fiscal Services. This Committee shall explore cost containment options available to the District.

## 3.3 Substitute Teaching – Retired FMSD Teachers

A retired FMSD teacher shall receive the long-term substitute rate plus Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) per day for subbing.

## 3.4 Extra Pay

Hourly pay for extra duty rate shall be paid for services rendered beyond the workday, subject to the following:

- a. Such services must have been assigned/required and pre-approved by the employee's immediate supervisor.
- b. Such services include, but are not limited to the following types of activities: extended day service, after-school tutoring, intersession, homework centers, GATE teachers, inservices, workshops, curriculum development, grant application writing, proposal writing, preparation time for workshop presenters, and the ADD program at Kennedy.

The hourly pay for extra duty rate shall be \$44.00.

# 3.5 Master's and National Board Certification Incentives:

- 3.5.1 First Master's Incentive Increment: one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500)
- 3.5.2 Second Master's Incentive Increment: one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500)
- 3.5.3 Doctorate Incentive Increment: one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500)
- 3.5.4 National Board Certification one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500) per year up to 10 years with a 5 year certification review

## ARTICLE IV: HOURS OF EMPLOYMENT

- While it is recognized that the unit member's work day extends beyond the time spent at the school or department, the usual on-site work day shall be seven and one-half (7 1/2) hours, inclusive of a duty-free lunch period of at least thirty (30) minutes.
  - 4.1.1 Upon request of the Association or the District, a Review Group shall meet to consider any concerns arising from this Article. Issues may include, but are not limited to, a reasonable extension of the number of hours beyond the seven and one-half (7 ½) hour work day; administrator-required meetings; shortened days for teacher-directed activities; et cetera.
    - 4.1.1.1 The Review Group shall be convened as necessary within ten (10) days and shall include two (2) FMEA appointees and two (2) District appointees. The Review Group shall resolve concerns in a timely manner.

## 4.2 Preparation Periods

- 4.2.1 Seventh and eighth grade teachers at a middle school program shall be granted a daily period in which they are to plan and perform duties directly related to the school and instructional responsibilities they have been assigned. K-8 schools will be provided an additional teacher to provide assistance to the 7-8 program. This period shall not include student supervision. In the event of an emergency, when no substitute is available, the principal may require that a teacher provide coverage of another class during his/her preparation period. Such requirement shall be equitably distributed among unit members in any given preparation period. Pursuant to this provision, no unit member shall be required to provide coverage more than three (3) times in any school year. Consideration in this requirement shall be given to preparation needs of unit members. For all coverage beyond three (3) preparation periods, the unit member shall be paid at the hourly-rate as specified in Article 3.4. Events which have been previously scheduled including, but not limited to, state-wide testing and co-curricular activities, do not constitute an emergency.
- 4.2.2 T-K through sixth grade teachers shall be provided with a daily teacher directed thirty (30) minute preparation period prior to the start of the instructional day, except when assigned yard duty, bus or other student supervision duties.

- 4.2.3 All T-K-6/T-K-8 RSP and A.P.E. teachers, and all SLP's shall have the equivalent of one work day per week, student free, to carry out their responsibilities to the educational program being provided to their students. A flexible plan will be submitted to the immediate supervisor for approval within the first ten instructional days on an annual basis.
- 4.2.4 All T-K-6/T-K-8 SDC teachers including preschool shall have four sub days per year for the purpose of testing and completing IEPs. These sub days must be approved by the site administrator in advance.
- 4.2.5 All Middle School RSP and SDC teachers shall have two prep periods a day to carry out their responsibilities to the educational program being provided to their students, with the exception of Life Skills class at the middle schools which shall have one preparation period. The Life Skills teacher shall be paid per diem on a pro-rata basis in lieu of the second prep period.
- 4.3 Seventh and eighth grade teachers at middle schools shall provide two hundred fifty (250) minutes of direct classroom instruction daily to students in addition to activity period responsibilities. A middle school activity period is a thirty (30) minute period in addition to the two hundred fifty (250) minutes of direct classroom instruction. The decision of when the activity period will occur shall be mutually determined between the teachers and the site administrator. Where consensus is not reached the issue shall be referred to the Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services for the final decision. During middle school activity periods, each unit member shall be responsible for direct student contact as approved by the principal. Such activities may include but shall not be limited to sponsorship of clubs, student organizations, or student tutoring.
  - 4.3.1 No unit member shall be assigned a yard duty longer than 15 minutes. No unit member shall be assigned more than an average of 5 duties a week. Duties shall be distributed equitably amongst staff.
- During the time Pre-K/T-K/Kindergarten is in session, any non-instructional portion of the Pre-K/T-K/Kindergarten teacher's workday shall be spent on the Pre-K/T-K/Kindergarten program.

- On days when unit members are scheduled to work but the pupils are not scheduled to be present, on days of an emergency release of pupils or on minimum or rescheduled days, the work day shall be the same as if pupils were present for an entire instructional day. A shorter day may be authorized by the Superintendent or designee.
  - 4.5.1 During parent conference weeks, time not spent on parent/teacher conferences after the student dismissal shall be teacher directed. Time spent on parent/teacher conferences includes conferences scheduled individually between a parent and teacher, conferences scheduled between parents and multiple teachers and any other group or coordinated conferences. During these conferences and weeks that include Back to School Night and Open House, unit members shall only be required to be on site a total of thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hours a week.
- The basic work year for unit members shall consist of one hundred eighty- four (184) work days and one hundred ninety-four (194) work days for counselors, psychologists, speech therapist, curriculum support specialists, nurses and project specialists. Any additional District-required workdays, beyond a unit member's basic work year, shall be compensated at his/her per diem rate calculated upon base salary.

Assigned work days shall be determined by the District and shall not include the following:

Independence Day Labor Day

Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day and Day After

Christmas Day New Year's Day Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Memorial Day

Presidents' Day Day after Easter Sunday

4.6.1 The number of yearly instructional minutes for each child shall meet the following requirements:

Kindergarten: 36,000 minutes Grades 1-3: 50,400 minutes Grades 4-8: 54,000 minutes

4.6.1.1 Unit members at each site shall form a joint committee with the site administrator to prepare a plan for providing the daily instructional minutes. The plan for instructional minutes shall be presented to the local staff. Should the staff be unable to reach agreement through a majority vote, the issue shall be referred to the Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services for a final decision.

- 4.6.1.2 The plan shall include up to four (4) minimum days per year for District use.
- 4.6.1.3 The plan will allow for adjusted days of which the District shall designate, on an annual basis. schedule of adjusted days shall rotate on an alternating basis from administratively directed to teacher directed and shall not include the adjusted weeks for parent conferences. Teacher directed days shall be used exclusively for teachers to plan and perform duties directly related to the school and their instructional responsibilities which will increase achievement. Minimum days shall not be scheduled on teacher directed adjusted days. All schools shall be on the same rotating adjusted day calendar.
- 4.6.1.4 School sites will post the calendar/schedule of adjusted days prior to the start of the school year.
- 4.6.1.5 Fall parent conference shall take place within a District designated three (3) week window, unless otherwise approved by the Assistant Superintendent of Ed. Services or designee. Fall and spring parent conference weeks are considered neutral weeks. Sites will determine which of the remaining two weeks will be teacher and admin. directed with teacher input. The schedule is subject to approval by the Assistant Superintendent of Ed. Services or designee.
- 4.7 The unit member's site administrator may approve a unit member's absence during the non-instructional work period for attendance at District-approved college or university course work. Such absence shall require prior approval by the on-site administrator. The time must be made up at a time mutually agreeable to the on-site administrator and the unit member.
- 4.8 There will be a maximum of twenty-two (22) administrator-required general staff meetings a year. Eighteen (18) of those meetings will be staff meetings and four (4) will be collaboration meetings. Such meetings shall begin within 15 minutes after students are dismissed, and shall not last more than one hour.
  - 4.8.1 The following duties are included as part of a unit member's professional responsibilities, regardless of whether they occur during the regular work day: Parent-Teacher Conferences, Back to School Night, and Open House.

- 4.8.2 The District may require each unit member to participate in up to thirty (30) hours of professional/adjunct activities and duties beyond the end of the regular work day. Unit members may voluntarily agree to exceed the thirty (30) hours. Each adjunct duty shall have a posted estimation of time required. One (1) hour of work equals one (1) hour of adjunct duty. Teachers whose assignment includes a combination class shall have fifteen (15) hours of adjunct duty. SDC and RSP teachers will complete their thirty (30) hour requirement for adjunct duty by doing fifteen (15) hours of adjunct duty and applying fifteen (15) hours to IEPs. SLP's, A.P.E.'s and Psychologists shall not be required to participate in adjunct duties as required by this section; however, they have the option to voluntarily participate in adjunct duties.
- 4.8.3 At the beginning of the school year, the principal will hold a meeting with staff to discuss the adjunct duties. Unit members shall be given a list of adjunct duties for which they can sign up. In the event a unit member does not sign up for 30 hours of adjunct duties, such duties may be assigned to him/her by the principal.
- 4.8.4 Staff meetings are directed by the site administrator. The definition of "staff meetings" also include grade level or collaboration meetings held on Tuesdays only. The site administrator has the sole discretion to determine the agenda and the manner in which items are added to or removed from the agenda. The site administrator also has the sole discretion to determine how staff meetings are scheduled and run. Staff meetings are generally held on Tuesdays but may also be held at other times, only in the event of an emergency within the sole discretion of the site administrator.
- 4.8.5 Staff meetings are directed by the site administrator for the purpose of managing the site and curriculum. Staff meetings shall not also include grade level or collaboration meetings unless they are held on Tuesdays. The site administrator has the sole discretion to determine the agenda and the manner in which items are added or removed from the agenda. The site administrator has the sole discretion to determine how staff meetings are scheduled and run. Staff meetings are generally held on Tuesday but may also be held at other times within the sole discretion of the site administrator.
- 4.9 Librarians may elect to work up to four (4) days during the summer recess instead of four (4) regularly scheduled work days during the school year, subject to approval by the site administrator.

- 4.10 All classroom teachers shall have a minimum of one (1) day of preparation time in their classroom prior to the start of the school year.
- The special nature of the multiple school assignments of nonclassroom personnel such as Nurses, Adaptive Physical Education Teachers, Psychologists and Speech/Language Pathologists shall be taken into consideration when scheduling IEP SST meetings so that they shall not be required to work beyond the seven and one-half (7 ½) hour work day whenever practicable.
- 4.12 Pre-K/T-K teachers shall spend their District PD days in District sponsored workshops. If District training is not relevant to a pre-K/T-K assignment this time will be used for collaboration. Questions regarding whether District sponsored workshops are relevant to a pre-K/T-K assignment shall be resolved within the sole discretion of the site administrator.
- 4.13 A full-day substitute shall be provided for any unit member who is assigned to a classroom full-time and is assigned by the site administrator in his/her absence to perform duties as an administrator designee.

#### ARTICLE V LEAVES

#### 5.1 Bereavement Leave

Unit members shall be entitled to a minimum of three (3) days bereavement leave, or five (5) days if out-of-state travel is required, because of a death in the immediate family. "Immediate family" is defined as brother, sister, father, step-father, mother, step-mother, husband, wife, child (including step-child), grandchild, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, mother-in-law, father-in-law, any person living in the immediate household of the unit member, including a registered domestic partner, any person claimed as a dependent by the unit member, or a case where the unit member's relationship is significantly close, or where the unit member's presence is required or necessary as determined by the Superintendent or designee. When used, this leave shall be in addition to all other leaves.

Under extenuating circumstances, the Superintendent or designee may extend the leave to a maximum of five (5) days.

Up to seven (7) additional days of leave may be granted under personal necessity leave.

5.2 Pregnancy Disability Leave (California Government Code section 12945)

Eligible unit members are entitled to take Pregnancy Disability Leave consistent with the requirements of California Government Code section 12945. The length of Pregnancy Disability Leave is designated by the employee's treating physician. Typical Pregnancy Disability Leave periods are six (6) weeks for a normal pregnancy and delivery and eight (8) weeks for a caesarian delivery. However, employees may be eligible for up to four (4) months of Pregnancy Disability Leave if they are temporarily disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth and recovery therefrom as verified by the employee's treating physician. Periods of leave may be totaled in computing the four months. Pregnancy Disability Leave is unpaid. Employees are also eligible for unpaid Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) leave while disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth and recovery therefrom. FMLA leave runs concurrently with Pregnancy Disability Leave.

District employees may be eligible to receive compensation while on Pregnancy Disability Leave first from accumulated sick leave and second from differential sick leave if they qualify for such leaves in accordance with Section 5.4 of this Contract and Section 44977 and 44977.5 of the California Education Code.

Employees who are disabled for longer than the maximum four months provided under Pregnancy Disability Leave may still be eligible for differential sick leave under Section 5.4 of the contract and Section 44977 and 44977.5 of the California Education Code.

# 5.2.1 Adoption/Paternity Leave

Unit members are entitled to up to three (3) days adoption/paternity leave without loss of pay. When used, this leave shall be in addition to all other leaves.

#### 5.3 Parental Leave

The District provides unit members with parental leave pursuant to Education Code section 44977.5. A copy of Education Code section is attached as Appendix J.

5.3.1 Per California Family Rights Act (CFRA), unit members may request additional time for purposes of Parental Leave.

## 5.4 Personal Necessity Leave

Unit members may use up to seven (7) days per year of accumulated sick leave for personal necessity leave. Personal necessity leave shall not require a statement of reason.

# 5.4.1 Observance of a Religious Holiday

- 5.4.1.1 A unit member may use up to seven (7) days of personal necessity leave for observance of religious holidays.
- Independent of 5.4.1.1 above, a unit member may be absent up to three (3) days to observe a religious holiday(s). In order to be absent under this provision, the unit member must give five (5) days advance notice to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and agree to provide an equal number of days service on a date(s) mutually agreed between the unit member and the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources. In the event the unit member does not provide service as mutually agreed by June 30 of that school year, there shall be a per diem deduction(s) for the day(s) originally absent.

#### 5.5 Sick Leave

Each unit member shall be granted sick leave at the rate of ten (10) days for the standard work year for that position. This sick leave shall be cumulative without limit.

- 5.5.1 A regular unit member working more or less than the standard work year for his/her position shall receive prorated sick leave based upon the standard work year for that position.
- 5.5.2 In the event of illness/injury, the unit member shall utilize sick leave in the following order:
  - 5.5.2.1 Use balance of current year's sick leave
  - 5.5.2.2 Use other accumulated sick leave
  - 5.5.2.3 If absence extends beyond accumulated sick leave and is less than or equal to one hundred (100) days following expiration of the current year's sick leave, the unit member shall receive the difference between his/her pay and the amount paid to a short-term substitute, or if no short-term substitute employee was employed, the amount which would have been paid to the short-term substitute had a substitute been employed. The differential pay shall extend for a maximum of one hundred (100) days beginning with the expiration of the current year's sick leave. The employee's health and welfare program shall remain in effect during this period of injury.
  - 5.5.2.4 Illness/injury, the unit member may be required to provide to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources a written statement from a physician certifying the nature of the illness/injury. At reasonable intervals thereafter, the District may require from the unit member additional written statements by a physician certifying to the continuing nature of the injury.

## 5.6 Catastrophic Leave Bank

### 5.6.1 Definitions

5.6.1.1 "Catastrophic illness or injury" means any illness or injury that incapacitates a unit member for an extended period of time, or that incapacitates a member of the unit member's family, which incapacity requires the unit member to take time off from work for an extended

period of time to care for that family member, and taking extended time off work creates a financial hardship for the unit member because he or she has exhausted all of his or her sick leave and other paid time off. Examples of catastrophic illness or injury include, but are not limited to: cancer, heart attacks or strokes, severe respiratory conditions, spinal injuries, emphysema, severe arthritis, severe nervous disorders, and Alzheimer's.

- 5.6.1.2 "Day," for the purposes of this Article, means any day a unit member is expected to be on duty as determined by the terms of this Agreement.
- 5.6.1.3 "Family member" shall be defined as spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, or child.

"Child" means a biological, adopted, or foster child, a stepchild, a legal ward, or a child of a person standing in loco parentis as long as the child is under eighteen (18) years of age or an adult dependent child.

"Parent" means a biological, foster, or adoptive parent, a stepparent, or a legal guardian.

5.6.1.4 "Eligible leave credits" means sick leave accrued to the donating employee.

## 5.6.2 Eligibility and Contributions

- 5.6.2.1 Unit members on active duty with the District who have a minimum of ten (10) days of accrued sick leave are eligible to contribute to the Catastrophic Leave Bank.
- 5.6.2.2 Participation is voluntary. Only contributors will be permitted to withdraw from the Bank.
- 5.6.2.3 Unit members who elect not to join the Catastrophic Leave Bank upon first becoming eligible must wait until the following year's open enrollment period to join and are not eligible to withdraw from the Bank until they are enrolled.
- 5.6.2.4 The contribution, on the appropriate form, shall be authorized by the unit member and continued from year to year until canceled by the unit member.
- 5.6.2.5 Cancellation occurs automatically whenever a unit member is unable to make his/her annual contribution.

Cancellation, on the proper form, may be effected at any time and the unit member shall not be eligible to draw from the Bank as of the effective date of the cancellation. Sick leave previously authorized for contribution to the Bank shall not be returned upon cancellation.

- 5.6.2.6 Contributions shall be made between July 1 and October 1 of each year. Eligible unit members returning from extended leave, which included the enrollment period, and eligible new hires are permitted to contribute within 30 calendar days of resuming or beginning work.
- 5.6.2.7 The rate of contribution by each participating unit member shall be limited to one (1) day of sick leave every other year. Contributions are irrevocable.
- 5.6.2.8 Part-time unit members may contribute and use catastrophic leave on a pro-rata basis.

#### 5.6.3 Withdrawal from the Bank

- 5.6.3.1 Catastrophic Leave Bank participants whose sick leave is exhausted may withdraw from the Bank for catastrophic illness or injury.
- Unit members must use all sick leave, but not differential leave, available to them before being eligible for a withdrawal from the Bank. Participants who are approved and who have exhausted all accrued sick leave are entitled to supplement their differential leave with Catastrophic Leave charged at one-half day increments.
- 5.6.3.3 Withdrawals from the Catastrophic Leave Bank shall be granted in units of no more than thirty (30) days. Unit members may submit requests for extensions of withdrawals as their prior grants expire. A unit member's withdrawal from the bank may not exceed the statutory maximum period of twelve consecutive months.
- 5.6.3.4 Unit members applying to withdraw or extend their withdrawal from the Catastrophic Leave Bank will be required to submit a doctor's statement indicating the nature of the illness or injury and the probable length of absence from work.

- If a unit member has drawn thirty (30) Catastrophic Leave Bank days and requests an extension, the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources may require a medical review by a physician of the District's choice at the unit member's expense. Refusal to submit to the medical review will terminate the unit member's continued withdrawal from the Bank. The Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources may deny an extension of withdrawal from the Catastrophic Leave Bank based upon the medical report.
- 5.6.3.6 Catastrophic leave credits shall not be used for illness or injury which qualify the unit member for workers' compensation benefits.
- 5.6.3.7 If the unit member may be eligible for a Disability Award or a Retirement under STRS or, if applicable, Social Security, the District may require the unit member to apply for disability or retirement. Failure of the unit member to submit a complete application, including medical information provided by the unit member's physician, within twenty (20) calendar days of the request shall disqualify the unit member from further Catastrophic Leave Bank payments. Any requests for additional medical information from STRS and Social Security shall be submitted within ten (10) days or the unit member's entitlement to Catastrophic Leave Bank payments will cease.
- 5.6.3.8 If the Catastrophic Leave Bank does not have sufficient days to fund a withdrawal request, the District is under no obligation to pay the participant any funds whatsoever. If a request for withdrawal is denied because of insufficient days to fund the request, the District shall notify the unit member, in writing, of the reason for the denial.
- Catastrophic Leave Bank unit member participants who are denied a withdrawal or whose withdrawal is not renewed or terminated may, within ten (10) days of denial, appeal, in writing, to the Superintendent. The Superintendent shall hold a hearing within fifteen (15) days. The Superintendent shall issue a confidential written decision within fifteen (15) workdays of the hearing. If the unit member's incapacitation does not allow participation in this appeal process, the unit member's agent or member of the family may process the appeal.

- 5.6.3.10 Approval or denial of catastrophic leave requests shall be final and not subject to grievance.
- 5.6.3.11 Participants and applicants shall complete the form attached in Appendix A.
- Unit members do not accrue sick leave while using catastrophic leave credits. If the catastrophic illness or injury crosses over into a new school year, the unit member shall first exhaust all newly accrued sick leave before drawing down any remaining balance of approved Catastrophic Leave Bank Days.

## 5.6.4 Administration of the Bank

- 5.6.4.1 The Human Resources office shall maintain the records of the Catastrophic Leave Bank, receive withdrawal requests, verify the validity of requests, approve or deny the requests, and communicate its decision, in writing, to the unit member participants.
- 5.6.4.2 The District shall approve all properly submitted requests complying with the terms of this Article on a first come first served basis. Withdrawals may not be denied on the basis of the type of illness or injury, except as provided in this Article.
- 5.6.4.3 In the event the parties agree to discontinue the Bank, the parties will negotiate how the hours donated will be returned to the donating unit members.
- 5.6.4.4 The Association shall indemnify and hold the District harmless from any and all claims, demands or suits, or other action arising from the District's implementation and administration of Article 5.4.3 "Catastrophic Leave Bank", including reasonable attorney fees and costs. The Association as the indemnitor shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine which matters shall or shall not be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed.

# 5.7 Family Care and Medical Leave

The governing Board shall grant Family Care and Medical Leave ("CFRA") to eligible employees in accordance with current state and federal law. Employees taking this leave shall be reinstated in the same or comparable position upon returning from family care leave, except as allowed by law.

#### Definitions:

"Family care and medical leave" means any of the following:

- (1) Leave for reason of the birth of a child of the employee, the placement of a child with an employee in connection with the adoption or foster care of the child by the employee, or the serious health condition of a child of the employee.
- (2) Leave to care for a parent, spouse or registered domestic partner who has a serious health condition.
- (3) Leave because of an employee's own serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the functions of the position of that employee, except for leave taken for disability on account of pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions under the California Family Rights Act (CFRA).

"Child" means a biological, adopted, or foster child, a stepchild, a legal ward, or a child of a person standing in loco parentis as long as the child is under eighteen (18) years of age or an adult dependent child.

"Parent" means a biological, foster, or adoptive parent, a stepparent, or a legal guardian.

"Serious health condition" means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either of the following:

- (1) Inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential health care facility.
- (2) Continuing treatment or continuing supervision by a health care provider.

## 5.7.1 Eligibility

- 5.7.1.1 Unit members who have served more than 12 months with the District, and who have served at least 1250 hours of work service (178.5 days of full time service) with the District during the previous twelve-month period are eligible for Family Care and Medical Leave in accordance with state and federal law. If both parents of a child work for the District, their Family Care and Medical Leave related to the birth or placement of their child shall be limited to a total of twelve (12) weeks.
- 5.7.1.2 A unit member on Family Care and Medical Leave under this Section may use any accrued leave or other

paid leave or may elect to take it as unpaid leave. If a member takes such a leave because of the employee's own serious health condition, the employee shall substitute accrued sick leave during the period of the leave.

#### 5.7.2 Duration

- 5.7.2.1 Leave under this Section may be taken for a total of twelve (12) workweeks in a twelve (12) month period.
- 5.7.2.2 Family Care and Medical Leave may be taken in one-half day increments.

### 5.7.3 Benefits

- 5.7.3.1 While on Family Care and Medical Leave, a unit member's group health insurance coverage including dental and vision shall be maintained by the District at the same level and under the same conditions as coverage would have been provided if the employee had continued in employment continuously for the duration of the leave.
- 5.7.3.2 Maintenance of Status. The employee shall retain his/her status with the District during the Family Care and Medical Leave period, and the leave shall not constitute a break in service for purposes of longevity or seniority. For purposes of layoff or recall, the employee returning from Family Care and Medical Leave shall return with no less seniority than he/she had when the leave began.
- 5.7.3.3 Leave taken pursuant to the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) shall run concurrently with leave taken pursuant to the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) except for any pregnancy disability leave. If an employee is disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, she may be entitled to take up to four months of pregnancy disability leave in addition to the twelve weeks of Family Care and Medical Leave

#### 5.7.4 Reinstatement

As a condition of an employee's return from leave taken because of the employee's own serious health condition, the employee shall obtain certification from his/her health care provider that the employee is able to resume work at least two (2) weeks before returning to work.

- 5.7.4.1 Upon granting an employee's request for Family Care and Medical Leave, the District shall reinstate the employee in the same or a comparable position when the leave ends.
- An employee who takes leave has no greater right to reinstatement than if he/she had been continuously employed during the leave period. If the District reduces its workforce during the leave period, and the employee is laid off for legitimate reasons at that time, he/she is not entitled to reinstatement, provided the District has no continuing obligations under a collective bargaining agreement or otherwise.

### 5.7.5 Procedures

- 5.7.5.1 Requests, Advance Notice and Certification. The employee shall give the District at least thirty (30) days written advance notice of his/her need for Family Care and Medical Leave. If the employee learns of the need for this leave fewer than thirty (30) days in advance, he/she shall provide such notice as soon as practicable.
- 5.7.5.2 When requesting Family Care and Medical Leave because of a serious health condition, the request shall be supported by a certification from a health care provider of the person requiring care. This certification shall include the following:
  - 5.7.5.2.1 The date on which the serious health condition commenced.
  - 5.7.5.2.2 The probable duration of the condition.
  - 5.7.5.2.3 If the employee is requesting leave to care for a child, spouse or parent who has a serious health condition, the health care provider's certification of both of the following:
    - 5.7.5.2.3.1 Estimated amount of time the health care provider believes the employee needs to care for the child, parent or spouse.
    - 5.7.5.2.3.2 Statement that the serious health condition warrants the participation of a

family member to provide care during a period of the treatment or supervision of the child, parent or spouse.

- 5.7.5.2.4 If the employee is requesting leave because of his/her own serious health condition, the health care provider's certification, that due to the serious health condition, the employee is unable to perform the functions of his/her job.
- 5.7.5.3 If this leave is needed for a planned medical treatment or supervision, the employee shall make a reasonable effort to schedule the treatment or supervision to avoid disruption of District operations. This scheduling shall be subject to the health care provider's approval.
- 5.7.5.4 If the member is requesting leave for intermittent treatment or is requesting leave on a reduced leave schedule for planned medical treatment, the certification must also state the medical necessity for the leave, the dates on which treatment is expected to be given, the duration of such treatment, and the expected duration of the leave.
- 5.7.5.5. If additional leave is needed when the time estimated by the health care provider expires, the District may require the member to provide re-certification of the need for the leave specified above.
- 5.7.5.6 If the District has reason to doubt the validity of a certification that accompanies a request for leave, the District may challenge the certification and require the unit member to obtain, at District expense, a second opinion from a District-approved health care practitioner not regularly employed by the District. If the second opinion is contrary to the first, the District may require, again at District expense, that the unit member obtain a third medical opinion from a third health care practitioner approved by both the unit member and the District.

#### 5.8 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave

Unit members are entitled to industrial accident or illness leave according to the provisions in California Education Code section 44984 for personal injury which has qualified for Workers' Compensation.

- 5.8.2 Such leave shall not exceed sixty (60) days during which the schools of the District are required to be in session or when the unit member would otherwise have been performing work for the District in any one (1) fiscal year for the same industrial accident. When an industrial accident or illness leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the unit member shall be entitled to only the amount of unused leave due him for the same accident or illness.
- 5.8.3 The District has the right to have the unit member examined by a physician, designated by the District at District expense, to assist in determining the length of time during which the unit member shall be temporarily unable to perform assigned duties, and the degree to which the inability to work is attributable to the injury involved.
- For any days absent from duty as a result of the same industrial accident, the unit member shall endorse to the District any wage loss benefits check(s) from the District's worker's compensation carrier which would make the total compensation from both sources exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the amount the unit member would have received as salary had there been no industrial accident or illness.
- 5.8.5 If the unit member fails to endorse to the District any wage loss disability indemnity check received on account of the industrial accident or illness as provided above, the District shall deduct from the unit member's salary warrant the amount of such disability indemnity actually paid to and retained by the unit member.

## 5.9 Jury Duty Leave

- 5.9.1 Unit members are entitled to paid leave for jury duty or as a subpoenaed witness in court, or legal proceedings when serving other than as a litigant.
- Any amount received for jury service or witness fees, other than mileage, shall be payable to the District.

## 5.10 Military Leave

5.10.1 Unit members who are members of any reserve corps of the Armed Forces of the United Sates or of the National Guard, or who are inducted, enlisted, or are otherwise ordered to active military duty, shall be granted such leave and military pay as is provided in the California Education Code and the California Military and Veterans Code.

- 5.10.2 Unit members on military leave shall retain those rights and privileges as required by law.
- Voluntary participation by a unit member in Reserve Corps and National Guard training periods must occur only at times when the unit member is not assigned to work.
- 5.11 Leave for former members of the Armed Forces, Former or current members of the National Guard or Federal Reserves

The District provides unit members who are former active duty members of the Armed Forces or a former or current member of the California National Guard, or a Federal Reserve component leave for treatment of an eligible service-connected disability pursuant to Education Code section 44978.2, Appendix K.

# 5.12 Long-Term Leave

- 5.12.1 The District may grant long-term leaves without pay for health, hardship, study, and other reasons acceptable to the District. Except under extenuating circumstances, all requests for such leaves must be submitted by May 1.
- Unit members granted a long-term leave shall inform the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources in writing within ninety (90) days of the leave expiration of his/her intention to return or not return to the District. This provision applies to leaves granted for one (1) semester or more.
- 5.12.3 While on leave under this section, unit members may elect to continue medical, dental, and vision premium payments at their own expense with the Business Office.
- Unit members requesting a leave of absence for the remainder of any contractual school year may be granted a leave for the remainder of that school year only. Thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of a long term leave, a unit member may reapply for an extension.
- 5.12.5 The District shall specify beginning and ending dates for all long term leaves.

## 5.13 Sabbatical Leave

Upon recommendation of the Superintendent or designee, the District may grant sabbatical leaves to unit members for purposes of permitting study and travel, or individual projects of said employees, which shall benefit the schools and the pupils of the District. The granting of leaves is subject to the following conditions:

## 5.13.1 Service

The sabbatical leave applicant must have served at least seven (7) consecutive years as a full-time certificated employee of the District. (Qualifying shall be interpreted as seventy-five percent (75%) of the teaching days of a school year.)

## 5.13.2 Number of Persons Allowed Sabbatical Leave

The number of persons allowed sabbatical leave during any given school year shall not exceed one percent (1%) of the certificated employees.

# 5.13.3 Length of Sabbatical Leave

Sabbatical leaves may be granted for the full year at half pay or for one (1) semester of school year at full pay.

## 5.13.4 Applications for Sabbatical Leave

Application for sabbatical leave must be made to the District through the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources on the District Sabbatical Leave form. Application must be made by March 1 of the school year preceding the one for which the leave is requested.

All requests for sabbatical leave shall be reviewed by the Sabbatical Leave Committee. This committee shall be composed of the following persons:

- a. A District Office administrator as chairperson.
- b. One (1) building level administrator appointed by the Superintendent or designee.
- c. Two (2) non-administrative certificated employees selected by the Association.

The Committee shall recommend approval or disapproval of sabbatical leaves by March 31st.

## 5.13.5 Sabbatical Leave for Study

Sabbatical leaves shall be granted for the purpose of full-time graduate study or research or extensive travel. A unit member shall complete twenty-four (24) semester units of study, which is related to the unit member's assignment. Not less than eight (8) semester units shall be completed during either semester

while on such leave. These courses shall be exclusive of correspondence and/or extension courses. Previous to such leave, the Sabbatical Leave Committee must approve the courses. A special project or research problem may be substituted for the unit requirements, if approved in advance by the Sabbatical Leave Committee. Transcripts of other evidence of completion shall be submitted to the Human Resources Office within sixty (60) days after the unit member returns to duty, except that if credit is to be claimed for salary classification (or increment), transcripts must be filed in accordance with the salary schedule requirements.

# 5.13.6 Sabbatical Leaves for a Combination of Study and Travel

Unit members on sabbatical leaves for study and travel shall be on continuous travel status for at least four and one-half (4 ½) months of leave granted. The applicant for leave shall complete a minimum of twelve (12) semester units of work during the sabbatical year, not less than eight (8) of which shall be completed during a semester. In addition, all other provisions of Section 5.10.4 and Section 5.10.5 shall apply.

# 5.13.7 Sabbatical Leave for Individual Project(s)

In preplanning individual projects, the applicant shall include a detailed plan of the project, a detailed statement of the time to be allocated to the project, the name and position of the supervisor, university or consultant, and a statement that the work to be done in the project shall be equivalent in time spent and in the quality of work, to twenty-four (24) semester units for a one (1) year sabbatical leave, or twelve (12) semester units for a half (1/2) year sabbatical leave.

The Sabbatical Leave Committee shall evaluate the value of the project and its equivalence to course units. Evidence of completion of the project shall include one or more of the following: a log book, a daily journal, slides, photographs or charts to show stages of development, verification of completed work by advisor, university or consultant, or specific evidence of a completed project.

### 5.13.8 Sabbatical Leave Agreement

Unit members applying for sabbatical leave must sign an agreement to return to service in the District for not less than two (2) years upon completion of the leave. The sabbatical leave shall be counted as a year of experience on the salary schedule, and the unit member shall be entitled to return to the same type of position as held when the leave was granted.

# 5.13.9 Sabbatical Leave Not Completed

Should injury or illness prevent a unit member from completing a sabbatical leave the sabbatical leave shall be terminated, and all provisions of sick leave shall apply. If death prevents the unit member from fulfilling his/her agreement to return to service in the District, no repayment of salary shall be required from his/her estate.

# 5.13.10 Detailed Written Report

Each unit member who has been on sabbatical leave shall file with the Sabbatical Leave Committee a detailed written report not later than sixty (60) days after return to active duty. The employee shall not be considered as having completed the requirements of a sabbatical leave until such report has been filed with the Sabbatical Leave Committee.

# 5.13.11 District's Right to Disseminate Information

The District shall retain the right to disseminate for the good of the District any information received as the result of any sabbatical leave.

### 5.13.12 Indemnification Bond

The terms and conditions of leave shall be agreed upon in writing, and shall include, but not be limited to, an indemnification bond for failure to successfully complete the sabbatical program or render the necessary post-leave service, a stipulation to a post leave service of not less than two (2) years for a full year leave, and one (1) full year for a one-half (1/2) year leave, a description of the sabbatical program, and appropriate reporting procedures as may be designated by the Superintendent or designee.

## 5.14 Leave of Absence for Employee Elected to the Legislature

- A permanent employee in a position requiring certification qualifications who is elected to the Legislature shall be granted a leave of absence from his/her duties as an employee of the District by the Governing Board of the District.
- During the term of such leave of absence, the unit member may be employed by the District to perform less than full-time service requiring certification qualifications, for such compensation and upon such terms and conditions, as may be mutually agreed upon by the unit member and the District.

- 5.14.3 Such absence shall not affect in any way the classification of such employee.
- Within six (6) months after the term of office of such employee expires, he shall be entitled to return to the position held by him at the time of his/her election, at the salary to which he would have been entitled had he not absented himself from the service of the District under this section.
- 5.14.5 Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, an employee shall not have any right to such position of the person employed to take the place of any elected official following the return of such elected official to their original position.

#### 5.15 Association Release Time

Elected officers or designated representatives of the Association are entitled to a total of sixty (60) days per year of release time for professional business. The substitute's salary for the first forty-five (45) days of this release time is to be paid by the Association at the current rate, and the remaining fifteen (15) days is to be paid by the District. A request for release time is to be submitted to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources or designee for approval five (5) days in advance of the absence whenever practical. On an emergency basis, a phone call followed by a written notice shall be allowed.

# ARTICLE VI: ASSIGNMENT, TRANSFER AND EARLY RETIREMENT

## 6.1 Openings

- 6.1.1 The Human Resources Office shall provide for posting at each school a list of openings as they occur throughout the year. The specifications of the position and the qualifications required of the applicant shall be on file in the Human Resources Office.
- 6.1.2 Unit members shall indicate their desire for transfer or reassignment to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources prior to April 1st.
- 6.1.3 A list of unit members requesting transfer shall be sent to each site administrator by April 15th for consideration for vacancies as they occur.
- 6.1.4 A unit member who has not requested a transfer or reassignment in writing prior to April 1st may apply for openings as they occur.
- Written notice of transfer or reassignment shall be given by an administrator to the unit member as soon as practicable and, under normal circumstances, not later than ten (10) days before the end of the unit member's work year.
- 6.1.6 A unit member requesting a transfer shall have consideration and the opportunity for an interview for any District opening within the same certification.
- A unit member returning from a job sharing assignment shall have consideration for openings within his/her certification.
- 6.1.8 A special education teacher who requests a reassignment shall meet with the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources to explore potential assignments.
- 6.1.9 The Association President shall be notified of all certificated openings or any newly created certificated classification, excluding management and supervisory positions, under Article 1, Section 1.2, of the Agreement, within three (3) days.

# 6.2 Assignment

- 6.2.1 Unit members shall be assigned only within the scope of their teaching certificates and/or their major or minor fields of study.
- 6.2.2 The site administrator shall prepare a tentative schedule indicating the number of classes at each grade level and subject. Bilingual, and other special classes shall be indicated. The tentative schedule shall be posted and distributed no later than March 15.
- 6.2.3 Unit members shall be surveyed by site administrators and shall indicate grade level and subject preferences by April 1. Site Administrators shall publish the results of the survey, including names, within five (5) days.

A tentative master schedule, including names, shall be posted and distributed by April 15. Whenever practicable, the unit member will be notified prior to publication of the on-site assignment and may request a conference with the site administrator and/or the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.

- 6.2.4 Any middle school 7th and/or 8th grade teacher who is required to change subject area during the academic year shall be notified a minimum of twenty (20) days before the end of the current grading period, except under unusual circumstances including, but not limited to enrollment changes or certification requirements.
- 6.2.5 Except under unusual circumstances, no middle school" (7-8) teacher shall be required to teach more than two (2) unrelated subject areas.
- 6.2.6 Unit members shall be assigned, whenever practicable, to a single classroom.
- No regular classroom teacher in an elementary school shall be required to serve in more than two (2) classroom locations in one (1) school year.
- 6.2.8 No regular classroom teacher shall be required to serve in more than two (2) schools in one (1) school year, except in emergencies beyond the control of the District.
- 6.2.9 A unit member may appeal an assignment to the site administrator or Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources. Upon request, specific reason(s) for the assignment

shall be given by the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources to the unit member.

# 6.3 Employee-Requested Transfer or Reassignment

# 6.3.1 Employee Requested Transfer

- 6.3.1.1 A unit member may request a transfer to another location by submitting a written request prior to April 1st to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources. In evaluating such a request, the District shall consider the following:
  - a. The comparability requirements of State and Federal guidelines.
  - b. Racial-ethnic background of the school community.
  - c. Special school programs.
  - d. Length of certificated service within the District.
  - e. Potential contribution of the individual to the school or department.
  - f. Date of transfer request.
  - g. Reason(s) for the transfer
- 6.3.1.2 Transfer is contingent upon interview and approval by the receiving site administrator or supervising administrator.
- 6.3.1.3 Upon request, specific reason(s) for transfer denial shall be given to the unit member by the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources or designee.

# 6.3.2 Employee Requested Reassignment

- 6.3.2.1 Unit members requesting a reassignment shall indicate their grade level/subject choice as their first preference on the assignment survey. The form must be submitted to the site administrator by April 1st.
- 6.3.2.2 Upon request, specific reason(s) for reassignment denial shall be given to a unit member, by the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources or designee.

# 6.4 Administrative Transfer or Reassignment

Upon request, any unit member administratively transferred or reassigned under this section shall be notified by the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources of the specific reason prior to the publication of the transfer or reassignment and may request a conference with the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.

Unit members shall not be administratively transferred more than once in a two (2) year period.

Any unit member who is involuntarily assigned to a different grade level shall not be involuntarily assigned to a different grade level again for at least two (2) years without the consent of the unit member except when the assignment is caused by declining enrollment, elimination of programs or compliance with law, e.g., Office for Civil Rights requirements.

# 6.4.1 Reasons for Administrative Transfer or Reassignment

Administrative transfers or reassignment may be made for one of the following three (3) reasons:

# 6.4.1.1 Educationally-related needs of the District

Administrative transfer or reassignment may be made and shall be based exclusively on the educationallyrelated needs of the District.

- 6.4.1.1.1 Volunteers shall be considered first but are not automatically entitled to the position.
- 6.4.1.1.2 A transfer may be made to meet State compliance requirements and/or because a specialized credential is required. The unit member shall be granted two (2) days of paid service without teaching duties within the first three (3) weeks of the new assignment to prepare. The unit member shall also receive six hundred dollars (\$600.00) for instructional materials.
- 6.4.1.1.3 When a unit member is transferred to a new location where a specialized credential is required, the District shall pay the application fee for the specialized credential. This payment shall be made one time only.

# 6.4.1.2 Over-staffing or relocation of programs

In selecting a unit member to be reassigned or transferred because a school is over-staffed, the District is over-staffed, a program is being relocated or in implementing primary class size reduction, the administration shall consider the following: volunteers first; comparability requirements of State and Federal guidelines; racial-ethnic background of the school community; educational school programs; credential requirements; and length of certificated service in the District. The District shall consider enrollment fluctuation in making decisions to relocate staff due to under enrollment prior to September 15<sup>th</sup>.

- 6.4.1.2.1 The unit member shall be granted two (2) self-directed work days of paid service without teaching duties within the first three (3) weeks of the new assignment to prepare. The unit member shall also receive Six Hundred Dollars (\$600.00) for instructional materials.
- 6.4.1.3 To provide a new teaching setting for certain staff members

Administrative transfer or reassignment may include transfer or reassignment as a means of providing a new teaching setting for a unit member whose performance has been evaluated with a reemployment recommendation of "no" or "yes with qualifications."

- 6.4.1.3.1 During the school year, a teacher reassigned to a different grade level at the same site shall be given, one (1) self-directed work day without responsibilities to prepare for the new assignment.
- 6.4.1.3.2 During the school year, a teacher transferred to a different site shall be given, two (2) self-directed work days without responsibilities to prepare for the new assignment. The unit member shall also receive six hundred dollars (\$600.00) for instructional materials.

## 6.5 Early Retirement Program

Unit members interested in participating in the Early Retirement Program who meet the following criteria should meet with the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and make application by February 1. Acceptance into the Early Retirement Program is at the sole discretion of the District. Participants who are selected by the District must obtain approval of their project by the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and the project supervisor.

- 6.5.1 A unit member accepted into the Early Retirement Program must resign.
- A unit member must be eligible for California State Teachers' Retirement System regular retirement benefits.
- 6.5.3 A unit member must work a minimum of 30 days.
- 6.5.4 Selection of participants in the Early Retirement Program may not be grieved under Article X of this Agreement. A unit member not selected may request a conference with the Superintendent. Participation in the Early Retirement Program is not an entitlement, but shall be subject to review and confirmation annually by June 1<sup>st</sup>.

# 6.6 Job Sharing

- 6.6.1 Joint applications for a job-sharing assignment for the following school year shall be filed with the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources Office no later than April 1. Unit members in a job-sharing assignment must renew their application each year.
- 6.6.2 The Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources shall notify, in writing, the site administrator and the applicant(s) of the District decision. An unsuccessful applicant(s) shall, upon request, be notified of the specific reasons for denial.
- 6.6.3 If a unit member on a part-time contract is in a job-sharing assignment and elects to return to full-time teaching, and the unit member notifies the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources within 30 days of the end of the school year, the unit member shall be given a full-time position within his/her certification at the beginning of the next school year.

#### 6.7 Retirement Notification

In exchange for a unit member providing the District with a minimum of five full months advanced notice of retirement, the District will provide a \$2,000 stipend in the last paycheck for a unit member who provides notice as follows:

The unit member planning to retire within or at the end of the school year must provide written notice to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources. If the unit member will retire within the school year, the unit

member must provide written notice no later than five full months prior to the last day they plan to work of the school year in which they will retire. If the unit member will retire at the end of the school year, the unit member must provide written notice by January 30<sup>th</sup> of the school year in which they will retire. The retirement notice must be irrevocable to be eligible for the \$2,000 stipend.

#### ARTICLE VII:

7.1

#### SAFETY CONDITIONS

- Unit employees shall not be required to perform tasks which endanger their health or safety. A unit member who notes such conditions must report, in writing, to the site administrator or designee the location of the hazard and the type of injury which is likely to occur. Hazards verified by the site administrator or designee shall be remedied as soon as practicable. A written report of any action taken or the action planned to be taken, along with a timeline, shall be given to the unit member within five (5) working days. If, in this process, an inspection is required, such inspection shall be performed by a qualified inspector.
  - 7.1.1 Upon request of the Association, the District shall review the specifications for additional facilities in regard to asbestos content.
  - 7.1.2 Upon request the District shall supply verification that the formaldehyde level in any new relocatable facility is within established health limits prior to occupancy by a unit member.
  - 7.1.3 The District and the Association shall form a joint committee to develop procedures for handling emergencies and the inspection of real and/or potential hazards: fires, earthquakes, intruders on campus, disasters, et cetera. The District shall facilitate a process where schools and departments develop plans to assure necessary staffing in the event of an emergency/disaster. Such plans shall consider the home and/or personal responsibilities of unit members.
  - 7.1.4 Each site administrator shall assure that procedures and systems are in place to cover emergencies such as fires, earthquakes, and intruders on campus.
    - 7.1.4.1 Each school site shall perform regular monthly fire or disaster drills. Drills for intruders on campus and disasters shall be held at least twice a year. These drills shall be held at various times during the school day.
    - 7.1.4.2 Each site in the District shall have a Disaster Kit. The Safety Committee at each site shall recommend to the District what shall be in the kit and where it shall be housed.
  - 7.1.5 All reports received by the District of inspections by local, state or federal health or safety agencies regarding potential hazardous conditions shall be available to any unit member upon request.

- 7.2 Except in the event of a system failure each school shall have a communication system whereby unit members may contact the office.
  - 7.2.1 Unit members shall have access from their classrooms to an outside telephone line for emergency purposes. The District will make every reasonable effort to repair a non-working phone as soon as possible.
- A unit member shall immediately report threats or cases of assault or battery suffered in connection with his/her employment to the site administrator or designee who shall immediately take action to assure the safety of the unit member and report the incident to the police. Such notification shall be immediately forwarded to the Superintendent or designee, who shall take further action.
  - 7.3.1 All staff at the school site shall be notified by the site administrator in person prior to receiving a student who has been charged with or convicted of a suspendable/expellable offense(s). The District will ensure that every school site has in place and follows a procedure for notifying teachers of each pupil who has engaged in or who is reasonably suspected to have engaged in any of the acts set forth in Education Code section 48900 and required to be disclosed to teachers under Education Code section 49079. (See Appendix K for copies of 48900 and 49079).
- A teacher may suspend, for good cause, any pupil from his/her class for the day of the suspension and the day following. The teacher shall immediately report the suspension to the principal of the school and send the pupil to the principal for appropriate action. As soon as possible, the teacher shall ask the parent or guardian of the pupil to attend a parent-teacher conference regarding the suspension. The procedures as set forth in section 48910 of the Education Code shall be followed. (See Appendix K for a copy of section 48910).
  - 7.4.1 The parties agree that site safety is best served when at least one site administrator is present when students are on campus. When this is not possible, an administrator will be available by phone. Teachers who may serve as administrative designee(s) during the school day in the absence of a principal and/or a vice-principal shall be identified within the first month of school.
- 7.5 Except as specified in a job description, a unit member shall not be required to perform any procedures that are deemed to be medical in nature that the unit member has not voluntarily been trained to do.

- It shall be the District's responsibility to move cabinets, files and all teaching materials, including student books that must be removed from the classroom for any move or for storage at the site. Classroom and teaching materials that will be moved must be packed and labeled by the unit member prior to the date the move is scheduled. Unit members shall ensure that their materials are ready for moving on the date established by site administrator with a minimum of 48 hours notice. Unit members shall not be required to perform cleaning services normally performed by a custodian.
  - 7.6.1 All classrooms shall be cleaned daily, except when beyond District control, e.g., due to personnel issues involving the classified unit.
- 7.7 Potentially hazardous conditions/materials shall be identified to the schools as follows:
  - a. The Warehouse catalog shall indicate any items that are potentially hazardous/toxic.
  - b. Any safety precaution literature in regard to hazardous/toxic materials shall be available to the user. There shall be a binder of all hazardous materials and precautions in the school office.
  - c. Materials shall be used in accordance with any safety labels.
  - d. When a potentially hazardous condition is identified, including but not limited to heating and cooling systems, air purity, mold and refuse, an inspection by a qualified inspector shall be made and the condition remedied as appropriate. A copy of the report and a timeline for any repairs shall be given to the unit member. Emergencies shall be dealt with immediately.
  - e. Unit members shall only use materials that have been approved and/or provided by the District. Unit members who wish to purchase materials/supplies which have not been approved and/or provided by the District shall obtain approval from the Assistant Superintendent, Business Services or designee, prior to purchase.
  - f. The District shall provide annual training on a-e above.
  - 7.7.1 In classrooms where toilet training is necessary, the District shall provide water, gloves, and proper cleaning materials.
  - 7.7.2 All hazardous waste (i.e., diapers) shall be removed from the classroom on a daily basis.

- 7.8 All bathrooms and toilets shall be cleaned daily when school is in session.
- 7.9 All teachers shall be notified at least two (2) weeks before any planned construction, roofing, painting, paving, and annual notice of the pesticide and herbicide spraying schedules, so that, if necessary, the school staff can come up with a workable plan for safety of teachers and students.
- 7.10 When practical, unit members shall be able to control heating or heating/cooling thermostats governing work locations. The District is responsible for maintaining heating/cooling systems at each site.
- Materials, such as rolling carts and textbook bins handled by unit members, shall be in safe working condition. Unit members shall report any equipment that is not in safe working condition and shall not use or handle any such equipment.
- 7.12 CPR and First Aid classes shall be offered by the District three (3) times a year. The classes shall be voluntary on the part of the unit member. The District shall pay for registration of unit members accepted into a class if no substitute is required, but shall not pay a unit member for attendance. Those unit members who have been trained at District expense shall be placed on a list which will be made available at the site. Notification of classes shall be sent out in District wide email to all District personnel as well as posted at sites. Classes shall include certification of small children and adults.

#### ARTICLE VIII: CLASS SIZE

- 8.1 The maximum class size for transitional kindergarten to third grade shall be 24 to 1.
- 8.2 The maximum class size for fourth through eighth grade classes shall be thirty-two (32) students at K-6 and K-8 schools.
- 8.3 Combination classes, grades K-3 shall be limited to 22 students. Combination classes grades K-6, shall be limited to twenty-eight (28) students. If combination classes include two grades with different class size limits those classes shall be limited to the lowest grade's class size limit.
- The District shall employ one (1) certificated staff member for every twenty-three point five (23.5) enrolled students in grades seven (7) and eight (8) at the middle schools. Administrative, and/or teaching leadership personnel, counselors, special education teachers, and librarians shall be excluded from this calculation.
  - 8.4.1 The District will limit the total number of students assigned to each middle school teacher to one hundred sixty (160)
  - 8.4.2 The District will limit the number of students assigned to each Physical Education, Band and Choral teacher to two hundred (200) students. These limitations do not apply to the activity period.
  - 8.4.3 The maximum class size for middle school teachers shall be thirty-two (32) for all classes except Physical Education, Band, and Choral.
  - The maximum class size for Physical Education teachers shall be forty-four (44) students.
- The maximum caseload for a Resource Specialist shall be twenty-eight (28) students; for a Speech Therapist, fifty-five (55) students; Teachers of the Visually Impaired (TVI), fourteen (14) Students and for an A.P.E. Teacher, fifty-five (55) students, and for Pre-K, Speech Therapist, forty (40) students.
  - 8.5.1 There shall be a minimum of two (2) FTE psychologists assigned to the preschool assessment center.
- The District shall not exceed a class size of thirteen (13) in any Special Day Class. If the fourteenth (14<sup>th)</sup> student is enrolled, a stipend shall be paid to the teacher at the rate of Fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per day per student for any student in excess of thirteen (13). In no event shall the actual enrollment exceed fourteen (14) students. This stipend shall be

paid on a monthly basis.

- Upon the thirteenth (13th) enrolled student, an additional hour of aide time shall be provided by the District.
- 8.6.2 General Ed teachers shall be compensated at the rate of four dollars (\$4.00) per day per student for any SDC student(s) mainstreamed into their classroom if that SDC student puts the General Ed teacher over their class size limit. A teacher eligible for this payment shall be responsible for submitting the tracking form signed by the teacher and the principal to the site in accordance with the schedule provided by the District.
- 8.7 The District shall not exceed a class size of ten (10) in any SH/Autism Special Day Class, SH/Emotionally Disturbed Special Day Class, and SH/Lifeskills Special Day Class. If the 11<sup>th</sup> student is enrolled, a stipend shall be paid to the teacher at the rate of fifteen dollars (\$15) per day per student for any student in excess of ten (10). In no event shall the actual enrollment exceed eleven (11) students. This stipend shall be paid on a monthly basis.
- Specialized or experimental programs or projects approved by the Board may deviate from the class maximums noted above. Individual teachers, however, may elect not to participate in such projects.
- 8.9 No grievance regarding class size shall be filed until after Labor Day.
- 8.10 The class size provisions noted above may be exceeded in the event of an emergency.
- 8.11 The following positions shall be provided unless a reduction in positions is authorized by the Board of Education. Such Board action is excluded from the Grievance Procedure (Article X).

Counselors3 per DistrictMusic Teachers4 per DistrictNurses4.2 per DistrictPsychologists4 per DistrictSpeech Therapists6.5 per District

Resource Specialists As authorized and funded by

SELPA (Special Education Local

Planning Area)

8.11.1 The District shall attempt to establish its staffing configurations for any positions other than classroom teachers by March 15 and notify all of the unit members involved of its decision.

- Since the inclusion or mainstreaming of a special day class student with exceptional needs into a regular classroom demands significant additional teacher time and/or preparation, the unit member may request a conference with the site administrator, SDC teacher, resource specialist(s), and/or a representative from Special Education in order to discuss concerns and explore possible alternatives. These may include, but are not limited to, the following:
  - a. Reassignment of student(s)
  - b. Additional aide time
  - c. More special education specialist time and/or assistance
  - d. Other consultation and/or assistance
  - e. Supplemental materials

# 8.13 Overage Caps

Overages shall not exceed contractual class size, total number of students assigned, or caseload levels beyond the following number of assigned students:

- a. Grades TK-1: one (1) over class size.
- b. Grades 2-3: two (2) over class size.
- c. Grades 4-6: one (1) over class size.
- d. Grades 7-8 (at elementary schools): one (1) over class size.
- e. Grades 7-8 (middle-school): ten (10) over total number of students assigned.
- f. Resource Specialists: one (1) over caseload.
- g. Physical Education, Band & Choral classes covered by Article 8.4.2: ten (10) over total number of students assigned.
- h. Speech Therapists, A.P.E. Teachers, Prc-K/T-K Speech Therapists: two (2) over caseload.

## 8.13.1 Compensable Overages

Members shall be entitled to extra compensation for overages, except in the following instances:

- a. Members are not entitled to extra compensation for any overages that occur before Labor Day.
- b. Members are not entitled to extra compensation for overages that occur after Labor Day, up to a total of five (5) school days of overage. Any days of overage occurring before Labor Day shall count toward this five-day grace period, such that a Member who has one day of overage before Labor Day may be assigned up to four (4) days of overage after Labor Day without compensation; Members who receive two (2) days of overage pre-Labor Day may be assigned up to 3 days of overage after Labor Day, and so on. Members who receive five (5) or more days of overage pre-Labor Day shall be entitled to compensation starting with the first day of post-Labor Day overage. The five day grace period is based on student enrollment and not student attendance.
- c. This compensation shall be paid on a monthly basis and begins with the over-enrollment of any student beginning the day after Labor Day following the five (5) day grace period.

## 8.13.2 Amount of Compensation

Extra compensation for compensable overages shall be as follows:

#### a. Grades T-K-6:

Thirteen dollars (\$13.00) per student per day that there is a class size overage. In grades 4-6 with block/core scheduling: Thirteen dollars (\$13.00) per student per day that there is a class size overage which will be divided equitably amongst the core (ELA, Math, Science and Social Studies) teachers who have the overage.)

- b. Each 7<sup>th</sup> and 8<sup>th</sup> grade teacher at a K-8 school will be compensated \$3.00 per period/subject that they have 33 students enrolled.
- c. Resource Specialists: Thirteen dollars (\$13.00) per student, per day that there is a caseload overage
- d. 7th & 8th grade middle school classes, Physical Education classes and Band & Choral classes covered by Article 8.4:

Five dollars (\$5.00) per student, per day that there is a total number of students assigned overage.

e. Speech Therapists, A.P.E. Teachers, Prc-K/T-K Speech Therapists:

Twenty-two dollars (\$22.00) per student, per week, that there is a cascload overage.

# 8.13.3 Assignment of Overages

Where the District determines that assigning a student will cause a class size, daily count or caseload overage, it will first request volunteers. If no teacher volunteers, the District is authorized to assign the student, except as provided below. zs

The District shall not require any 4<sup>th</sup>-8<sup>th</sup> grade teacher in a K-6 or K-8 school to accept a student assignment that causes an overage if the student is being assigned for a period greater than two school weeks, unless the assignment is during the last four weeks of school.

#### ARTICLE IX: EVALUATION

9.1 The evaluation of the District's certificated personnel should promote the professional growth and development of all parties involved in the process, a satisfactory level of staff competency and performance and assure that strong instructional strategies are being implemented in every classroom. Evaluation should be an on-going task with continual feedback to the certificated staff.

The Franklin-McKinley School District expects the evaluation of personnel to be professional in nature. Those responsible for personnel evaluation are expected to follow orderly methods of identifying strengths and deficiencies, to suggest and extend assistance for remediation of deficiencies and to maintain accurate and impartial records as outlined in the evaluation policy.

## 9.2 Evaluation Relationships

In the Franklin-McKinley School District, certificated evaluation is based upon a positive relationship between an evaluator and an evaluatee. The District believes that in order for a successful evaluation to result there must be mutual respect and confidence existing between evaluator and evaluatee.

All certificated personnel within the school district are to be evaluated. The evaluation process will be consistent with applicable California Education Code provisions. The evaluator of each unit member shall be an administrator designated by the District, whose identity shall be established and made known to the employee prior to the first day of instruction.

The implementation of these evaluation procedures rests with the designated administrator. While other certificated staff may be called upon to assist fellow employees, they will not be required to render evaluative judgments on an evaluatee's performance.

As a basis for evaluation, an evaluator and evaluatee will jointly agree on objectives to be used in the evaluation process. The evaluator and the evaluatee may adjust objectives because of changing conditions in the job situation.

In order to assure as much objectivity as possible, each evaluation will be supported by adequate and valid data from which judgments have been made. If the objectivity of the evaluation is questionable, the unit member may request a second evaluator through the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources or designee.

## 9.3 Evaluatees Responsibilities

- 9.3.1 The evaluatee will become familiar with the responsibilities stated in his/her job description and with specific responsibilities related to his/her assignment to a particular school/department.
- 9.3.2 By the 20th school day, the evaluatee will write objectives on the Certificated Staff Objective Forms in three of the following areas as defined by the California Standards for the Teaching Profession: (or successor designation as mutually agreed to by the Association and the District). The teacher shall choose two of the standards and the site administrator shall choose one.
  - STANDARD 1: Engaging and Supporting All Students In Learning (One required).
  - STANDARD 2: Understanding and Organizing Subject Matter For Student Learning (One required).
  - STANDARD 3: Planning Instruction and Designing Learning Experiences for all Students (One required).
  - STANDARD 4: Creating and Maintaining Effective Environments For Student Learning (One required).
  - STANDARD 5: Assessing Student Learning (One required).
  - STANDARD 6: Developing As A Professional Educator (One required).

Support staff members will be expected to write a comparable total number of objectives, mutually agreeable with the evaluator and evaluatee and related to their job descriptions.

Should an evaluatee receive an "IMPROVEMENT NEEDED" within any area of the most recent evaluation, the evaluator may require the unit member to participate in the development of an action plan.

9.3.3 The evaluatee will arrive at agreement on standards of performance with evaluator. No later than the thirtieth (30th) instructional day, the evaluator and the evaluatee will meet to review the evaluatee's written objectives. If an evaluator will not accept the evaluatee's objectives, the unit member may appeal to the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources or designee.

9.3.4 The evaluatee will conduct appropriate programs for meeting the objectives agreed upon with the evaluator.

When submitting objectives for District approval, evaluatees will also identify any necessary teaching materials, which are not available at the time of writing, including: a) title of material; b) vendor; c) cost; and d) availability, including alternate materials. If the District agrees that the materials are necessary to meet the objectives, but the materials are not provided, the objective(s) will be changed.

If an evaluatee determines that he/she is unable to provide an appropriate instructional program for a student, he/she shall notify the evaluator in writing. This shall include: a) name of child; b) date of first recognition of problem; c) outline of steps taken, including requested and provided support services; d) dates of parent conferencing; e) identified learning modality; f) attendance record. The evaluatee will initiate a meeting with the evaluator within ten (10) days of recognition for the purpose of establishing alternate objectives for said child.

- 9.3.5 The evaluatee will submit documentation of progress toward meeting objectives and will complete the "Assessment of Results" section of the Certificated Staff Objective Form (Appendix D)
- 9.3.6 The evaluatee will meet with the evaluator in order to review the achievement of instructional objectives and other evaluatee responsibilities.
- 9.3.7 The evaluatee will execute, to the best of his/her ability, the recommendations for improvement of his/her performance.

## 9.4 Evaluator Responsibilities

In the performance of his/her duties the evaluator will utilize a monitoring process which includes the following:

- 9.4.1 The evaluator will take appropriate steps early in the year to assure that each evaluatee understands the responsibilities stated in job descriptions and related to specific assignments. In this effort, special assistance will be given to new employees.
- 9.4.2 The evaluator will establish a calendar for evaluation conferences.
- 9.4.3 The evaluator will hold conferences when appropriate following observations and/or other visitations. These

observations will be recorded in writing on appropriate forms, a copy of which will be given to the evaluatee.

9.4.4 The evaluator will, during the conference, discuss the degree of attainment of outlined standards of performance with the evaluatee as well as the evaluatee's other responsibilities and make suggestions for improvement when necessary.

#### 9.5 Procedures for Personnel Evaluation

- 9.5.1 Prior to the first instructional day of the school year, each evaluator will review, with his/her staff, District procedures related to personnel evaluation. At this time, he/she will discuss District requirements and forms.
- 9.5.2 The evaluator at this time will indicate that evaluation is to be a continual process which will include, the monitoring of adherence to curriculum objectives, maintenance of a suitable learning environment, instructional techniques and strategies, progress of pupils toward standards established by the District, and developing as a professional educator, all of which are defined by the California Standards for the Teaching Profession.
- 9.5.3 Monitoring will include continuing review with all certificated employees and follow-up counseling whenever the performance in any area is marked "IMPROVEMENT NEEDED" in the summative evaluation. In the latter case the evaluator has the obligation to follow the procedures listed below:
  - a. The evaluator will notify the employee in writing of the performance that needs to improve.
  - b. The written notice of performance, improvement needed, will be clearly and comprehensively stated.
  - c. The evaluator will actually confer with the employee and make specific recommendations on improvement of his/her performance.
  - d. The evaluator will offer assistance to the employee to improve his/her performance.
- 9.5.4 When a unit member receives an "unsatisfactory" in any indicator, the evaluator has the obligation to follow the following procedures:

- a. Evaluatee needs to be notified in writing of the performance that was unsatisfactory.
- b. Any unsatisfactory needs to be clearly and comprehensively defined.
- c. State measurable objectives for improvement.
- d. State the means for measuring improvement.
- e. State evaluator's role in assisting unit member, (model, demonstrate).
- f. State timeline for completion/and resources available.
- g. The evaluator will recommend that the unit member consider a self-referral to PAR.
- 9.5.5 By the thirtieth (30<sup>th</sup>) instructional day, each evaluatee and his/her evaluator will have reviewed and mutually agreed upon objectives. If mutually agreed, objectives may be modified on or before January 31<sup>st</sup>.
- 9.5.6 The objectives must be written for completion prior to the final evaluation date.
- 9.5.7 During the school year, each teaching employee to be evaluated will receive a minimum of two (2) classroom observations by the evaluator. Observations may be conducted for employees not scheduled for evaluation at the discretion of the evaluator. These observations are not to occur on the first two or last two instructional weeks of the school year, or on the two days before or after a school break period of at least five (5) instructional days. None of the time limitations set forth in this section apply to or in any manner limit when a post observation conference may be held.
  - 9.5.7.1 Prior to the observation, a pre-observation conference between the evaluatee and administrator can occur, and is recommended. The pre-observation conference must occur if either party requests it.
  - 9.5.7.2 Within three (3) days of the observation, the evaluator will give evaluatee a copy of the observation form containing the descriptors that were observed in the observation.
  - 9.5.7.3 Within five (5) days of the observation, or later by mutual agreement, both parties will meet for a post-

observation conference. Both parties will complete, collaboratively, the post observation form.

9.5.8 Every probationary certificated staff member will be evaluated by his/her immediate supervisor in writing at least twice each school year; once, no later than the last instructional day in December, and a second time no later than March 1. Permanent employees shall be evaluated at least once every other year. Those to be evaluated will be notified by the evaluator prior to the first day of instruction. Permanent employees may be evaluated at any time during the school year if, in the opinion of the evaluator, the employee's performance merits "IMPROVEMENT NEEDED" an "UNSATISFACTORY" rating in any area. Permanent employees to be evaluated will be evaluated at least thirty (30) days before the end of the school year. The Progress/Summary Evaluation Form will be used for all evaluations. scheduled for evaluation will submit "Certificated Staff Objective Forms" (see Appendix D to this Agreement). Staff not being evaluated are encouraged to submit individual or grade/departmental objectives and are encouraged to meet with the administrator to review the employee's objectives.

9.5.9 When performance is unsatisfactory in three (3) out of five (5) indicators in one of the following areas; Engaging and Supporting all Students in Learning/Understanding and Organizing Subject Matter for Students Learning/Planning Instruction and Designing Learning Experiences for all Students, the evaluatee will become a referred participating teacher in the PAR Program and will be provided the evaluator's specific action plan.

All areas marked UNSATISFACTORY must be fully explained in the "Comment" section. If the recommendation is being made for non-employment or recomployment with qualifications, the evaluator must indicate which area of the evaluation is the basis for this recommendation.

- 9.5.10 Evaluation of an evaluatee's competence will not include the use of publisher's norms established by standardized tests.
- 9.5.11 If the Evaluatee feels that the District has not followed evaluation procedures, the evaluatee may utilize the grievance procedure.

## 9.6 Job Descriptions

9.6.1 Job descriptions for certificated employees are contained in the Job Description binder in each school office. Additional copies of job descriptions are available from the Human Resources Office.

## 9.7 Complaints Against Employees

- 9.7.1 A complaint regarding a certificated staff member made to any member of the administration or Board of Education by any parent, student or other person, which does or may influence evaluation of the certificated staff member shall be discussed with the staff member
- 9.7.2 The following steps must be followed if a complaint becomes part of the unit member's evaluation:
  - 9.7.2.1 The complaint must be reported to the staff member by the administrator in a timely manner. If the complaint is written, a copy will be given to the employee.
  - 9.7.2.2 The staff member against whom the complaint is made may seek legal counsel or representation.
  - 9.7.2.3 The administration will make an investigation of the complaint and review its findings with the employee.
  - 9.7.2.4 In the process of the investigation of the complaint, the employee will be consulted and given the opportunity to be heard.
  - 9.7.2.5 Only a complaint, which has been verified by the District, may be placed in the employee's personnel file, in which case the employee may submit a written response to be attached to the complaint.

# 9.8 "Progress/Summary Evaluation Form" (Appendix C)

9.8.1 The format of the evaluation instrument parallels that of the six (6) areas of evaluation specified in the California Standards for the Teaching Profession and should reflect the degree to which the evaluatee is fulfilling the requirements of his/her assignment. In special cases, a performance task listed on the evaluation form may not apply to the evaluatee. In those situations, the evaluator will use the term "not applicable" or "N/A". Conversely, there may be special situations in which performance tasks will be added to the form because of the nature of the certificated assignment.

The evaluator will check each of the applicable items, rating the evaluatee's performance in one (1) of three (3) categories.

- 9.8.2 "Competent" ratings reflect the performance of the successful evaluatee who consistently plans for and carries out required activities with considerable satisfaction.
- 9.8.3 When performance is less than competent, the evaluator will so indicate by checking the "IMPROVEMENT NEEDED" or "UNSATISFACTORY" column. In such cases, the evaluator is required to state clearly the nature of the deficiency and to make specific recommendations for improvement. All areas marked for improvement must be fully explained in the "Comment" section. If the recommendation is being made for non-reemployment or reemployment with qualifications, the evaluator must indicate which area(s) of the evaluation is the basis for this recommendation.
- 9.8.4 The evaluator and the evaluatee then sign the completed "PROGRESS/SUMMARY EVALUATION FORM". As indicated, the evaluatee has the option to append a statement to the original copies, which will be placed in the evaluatee's personnel file.
- 9.8.5 The completed evaluation forms are confidential documents and should be so regarded by all parties.

## 9.9 Evaluation Observations Forms

9.9.1 In each building/department, the form should be consistent with objectives.

The observation will be completed by using the District's: a) Pre-observation Form, (optional): b) Observation Form: c) Post Observation Form, as per 9.5.7.

- 9.10 Use of "Certificated Staff Objective Form" (Appendix D)
  - 9.10.1 The objective and the action plans are used as a means to achieve desired outcomes. At the time the performance objectives are developed and agreed upon, it is necessary to also discuss and agree on the actions and the efforts to be taken to attain the objectives. The "Certificated Staff Objective Form" is prepared so that both staff member and supervisor understand what is to be done, the outcome desired and the method of measurement that will be used to determine whether the objective has been attained.

## ARTICLE X: GRIEVANCES (See Article II, 2.23-2.25)

- The purpose of this procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible administrative level, solutions to grievances. Both parties agree that these proceedings shall be kept as informal and confidential as possible at any level of the procedure. When counting days, day one is the end of the workday following the day on which the grievance/response is submitted.
  - 10.1.1 A grievant is entitled to have a representative present at any level of the grievance procedure.
  - 10.1.2 If at the end of the school year or track, a grievant is unable to attend a grievance meeting, he is entitled to designate in writing a representative to act in his/her absence.
  - 10.1.3 Forms for filing grievances and other related documents shall be developed jointly by the Superintendent or designee and the Association.
  - Grievance forms shall be available from each site office, the Human Resources Office, the Association Office, and the faculty grievance representative.
  - 10.1.5 The time limits for processing grievances may be waived, extended or reduced by mutual agreement between the District and the Association when confirmed in writing.
  - 10.1.6 Failure by the administration to reply to the employee's grievance within the time limits specified automatically grants to the employee the right to process the grievance to the next level.
  - Failure by the grievant to file an appeal to the next step within the time limits specified automatically denies the grievance.
  - By mutual written agreement, the grievance may revert to a prior level for consideration.
  - 10.1.9 Upon written request, the District or the grievant shall provide pertinent information, which is relevant to the issues raised by the grievance. Information that is privileged under law, is excluded from this provision.
  - All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed in a separate grievance file and shall not be kept in the personal file of any of the participants.

- When it is necessary for the grievant or his/her representative to attend a grievance meeting or hearing scheduled during the day by the administrator or the arbitrator, the representative shall, upon notification to his/her site administrator or immediate supervisor, be released without loss of pay in order to permit participation in the foregoing activities. Any unit member who is required to appear in such investigations, meetings, or hearings, as a witness shall be accorded the same right.
- 10.1.12 Any unit member may during the work day present grievances to the employer and have such grievances adjusted without the intervention of the exclusive representative as long as the adjustment is reached prior to Level III and adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement provided that the District shall not agree to a resolution of the grievance until the Association representative has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and has been given the opportunity to file a response.
- 10.1.13 Grievances of a similar or like nature may be joined as a single grievance by mutual agreement of the District and the Association.
- 10.1.14 No party in interest shall take reprisals affecting employment status of any unit member, party in interest, any Association representative, or any other participant in the procedure by reason of such participation.

#### 10.2 Procedures

#### 10.2.1 Informal Level

Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant shall attempt to resolve the problem by an informal conference with the immediate supervisor.

#### 10.2.2 Formal Level

### 10.2.2.1 Step I

a. Within fifteen (15) days after the grievant knew, or by reasonable diligence could have known, of the occurrence of an act or omission giving rise to the occurrence, the grievant must present the grievance to the immediate supervisor in writing on the appropriate form.

- b. This statement shall be a clear, concise statement of the grievance, the circumstances involved, the decision rendered at the informal conference, and the specific remedy sought.
- c. Upon the request of the grievant, there shall be a conference between the supervisor and the grievant within five (5) days. The supervisor shall communicate his/her decision to the grievant in writing within twelve (12) days after receiving the grievance. A copy will be provided simultaneously to each of the two (2) Association representatives designated by FMEA for this purpose.

## 10.2.2.2 Step II

- a. In the event the grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered at Step I, he may appeal the grievance to the Superintendent or designated representative within twelve (12) days of receipt of the written decision from Step I.
- b. This appeal should include a copy of the original grievance, the decision rendered at Step I and a statement of the reasons for the appeal.
- c. The Superintendent or designee shall communicate his/her decision in writing to the grievant within twelve (12) days after receiving the appeal. A copy will be provided simultaneously to each of the two (2) Association representatives designated by FMEA for this purpose.
- d. Either the grievant or the Superintendent or his/her designee may request a personal conference within the above time limits.

#### 10.2.3 Arbitration

## 10.2.3.1 Step III

If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Step II, the Association may within twelve (12) days submit the grievance to arbitration and shall notify the Superintendent in writing.

- a. The Association and the District shall attempt to agree upon an arbitrator. If no agreement can be reached, the parties shall request the State Mediation and Conciliation Service or the American Arbitration Association to supply a panel of five (5) names of persons experienced in hearing grievances in public schools. Each party shall alternately strike a name until only one (1) name remains. The remaining panel member shall be the arbitrator. The order of striking shall be determined by coin toss.
- b. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the District and the Association. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them. If either party requests a transcript of the proceedings, that party shall bear full costs for that transcript and court reporter. If both parties request a transcript, the total cost of the two transcripts and court reporter shall be divided equally between the District and the grievant.
- c. Once the arbitrator has been selected, the hearing shall be scheduled as mutually agreed upon by the parties and the arbitrator. Hearings shall be confined to working days.
- d. The arbitrator shall conduct the hearing in accordance with the voluntary arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association and the provisions of this procedure.
- e. If the parties cannot agree upon a submission agreement, the arbitrator shall determine the issues by referring to the written grievance and the answers thereto at each step.
- f. Neither the District nor the grievant shall be permitted to assert any grounds or evidence before the arbitrator, which was not previously disclosed to the other party. The arbitrator shall consider only those issues, which have been carried through prior steps as required by the provisions of the procedure.
- g. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from or modify the terms of this Agreement.

- h. The arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall set forth the arbitrator's findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions on the issues submitted. The arbitrator shall be without the power or authority to make any decision, which requires the commission of an act, prohibited by law or which is violative of the Agreement. However, it is agreed that the arbitrator is empowered to include in any award such financial reimbursement or other remedies which the arbitrator judges to be proper. The award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties, and a copy shall be submitted to the Superintendent, the grievant, and the Association.
- i. The District may request the arbitrator to rule on the arbitrability of a grievance by submitting a written request to the arbitrator no later than sixty (60) days prior to the scheduled date of the arbitration hearing. A copy shall be sent to the Association simultaneously. The Association shall have an opportunity to respond in writing to the District's request within fifteen (15) days of service of the District's request. The arbitrator shall have the discretion to rule on the arbitrability of the grievance either before the hearing commences or at the conclusion of the hearing. If the arbitrator rules on the arbitrability of the grievance before the hearing commences. he/she shall issue his/her ruling no later than thirty (30) days prior to the date of the scheduled hearing.

#### ARTICLE XI: SUMMER SCHOOL

- In the event the District provides a summer school program, the District shall give preference to regularly employed teachers who are qualified for available summer school positions and who have notified the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources of their desire to teach.
- Location of summer school and invitation to apply for positions shall be posted in every school no later than April 1. Interested teachers will return the completed application to the district no later than May 1.
- Written notice of assignment and location shall be included with each offer of employment,
- Offers of employment for summer school assignments shall be made commencing no later than the last work day in May. Offers of employment for intersession shall be made on the sixth (6<sup>th</sup>) day after posting.
- First priority shall be provided to summer school classes for remediation in core subject areas.
- A summer school offer of employment shall be null and void if anticipated student registration does not materialize and/or class enrollments fail to meet the District standards. No offer of employment shall be canceled after the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) day of summer school instruction.
- The summer school rates of pay shall be as provided in Appendix J, and shall apply to all time that teachers are required to be on campus.
- Student lunch periods shall be utilized by teachers for self-directed collaboration activities. Teachers shall not be assigned any duty during the student lunchtime, breaks or recesses, except in the case of an emergency as defined in section 2.12 of this Agreement.
- When implementing hourly programs, the summer school compensation and staff development time shall be uniform throughout the district. When "prep time" is designated as a component of a program it shall be uniform throughout the District. This shall not preclude sites from offering additional hours (to be compensated per section 11.7) to their hourly programs based on the receipt of the revenue other than the state funded summer school programs.
- Except for this article as outlined above and the Grievance Procedure, no other articles or provisions in this Agreement shall apply to summer school personnel.

#### ARTICLE XII: ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY

12.1

- Any unit member who is a member of the Franklin-McKinley Education Association/California Teachers' Association/National Education Association, or has applied for membership, may sign and deliver to the District an assignment authorizing deduction of unified membership dues, initiation fees, and general assessments in the Association. Pursuant to such authorization, the District shall deduct one tenth (1/10th) of such dues from the regular salary check of the unit member each month for ten (10) months. Deductions for unit members who sign such authorization after the commencement of the school year shall be appropriately prorated to complete payments by the end of the school year.
- 12,2 Any unit member who is a member of the Franklin-McKinley Education Association/CTA/NEA, on June 1, 1988 or who is hired after June 1, 1988, shall, within thirty (30) days from the date of commencement of assigned duties within the bargaining unit, become a member of the Association or pay to the Association an agency fee payable to the Association in one (1) lump sum cash payment provided; however, the unit member may authorize payroll deduction for such fee in the same manner as provided in Section 12.1 of this Article. In the event that a unit member does not pay such a fee directly to the Association or authorize payment through payroll deduction as provided in Section 12.1, the Association shall so inform the District, and the District shall immediately begin automatic payroll deduction as provided in Education Code section 45061 and in the same manner as set forth in Section 12.1 of this Article. There shall be no charge to the Association for such deductions.
  - 12.2.1 Except as provided by this article, the District and Association recognize the right of unit members to form, join, and participate in the activities of an employee organization and the equal alternative right of employees to refuse to form, join, or participate in employee organization activities.
- Any unit member who is a member of a religious body whose traditional tenets or teachings include objections to joining or financially supporting employee organizations shall not be required to join or financially support the Franklin-McKinley Education Association/CTA/NEA as a condition of employment; except that such unit member shall pay, in lieu of an agency fee, sums equal to such agency fee to a non-religious, non-labor organization, or charitable fund exempt from taxation under Section 501 (C)(3) of Title 26 of the

Internal Revenue Code. Such payment shall be made before October 30 or through the payroll deduction system. The charitable organization(s) shall be mutually agreed to between the member and the Association.

- Proof of payment and a written statement of objection along with verifiable evidence of membership in a religious body whose traditional tenets or teachings object to joining or financially supporting employee organizations, pursuant to Section 12.3 above, shall be made on an annual basis to the Association and District as a condition of continued exemption from the provisions of Sections 12.1 and 12.2 above. Proof of payment shall be in the form of payroll deduction verification, receipts and/or canceled checks indicating the amount paid, date of payment, and to whom payment in lieu of the service fee has been made.
- With respect to all sums deducted by the District pursuant to Sections 12.1 and 12.2 above, whether for membership dues or agency fee, the District agrees to remit promptly such monies to the Association accompanied by an alphabetical list of unit members for whom such deductions are being made.
- The Association agrees to furnish any information needed by the District to fulfill the provisions of this Article.
- 12.7 The Association shall indemnify and hold the District harmless from any and all claims, demands or suits, or other action arising from the organizational security provisions contained herein, including reasonable attorney fees and costs. The Association as the indemnitor shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine which matters shall or shall not be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed.

#### ARTICLE XIII: NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES

## 13.1 Negotiations General

No later than one hundred (100) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement, the Association shall present to the Board its initial proposals for inclusion in a successor agreement. The Board and the Association shall then proceed pursuant to the PERB rules and regulations implementing Government Code section 3547. Following the Board's adoption of its initial proposals at a public meeting, the parties shall meet and negotiate regarding matters within the scope of representation.

#### 13.2 Outside Consultants

The negotiating sessions shall be private; however, either party may utilize the service of outside consultants to assist in or be present at negotiations.

# 13.3 Representatives

Authorized officers, consultants, individual representatives or committees may represent the District and the Association in negotiation sessions.

#### 13.4 Time and Place

Negotiating sessions shall be held at times and places as mutually agreed upon by the parties.

## 13.5 Number of Representatives

- 13.5.1 The Association shall be allowed released time for up to five (5) of its members for the purpose of meeting and negotiating at agreed upon meetings with the District representatives on all matters within the scope of representation pursuant to Government Code section 3543.2.
- Whenever representatives of the Association are mutually scheduled by the parties to participate during working hours in negotiating sessions, they shall suffer no loss in compensation for such time-spent meeting and negotiating with District representatives.

#### 13.6 Reports

Both parties shall make available to each other, upon reasonable, written request, a copy of documents pertinent to the issues under negotiation, not otherwise privileged by law.

Upon request prior to February 15, the District shall furnish on the respective salary schedules as of January 15 the Association with the placement of unit members of the same year. The Scattergram shall be provided by March 1st.

# 13.7 Tentative Agreements

Unless the parties agree to the contrary, when tentative agreement has been reached on an item, it shall be reduced to writing and initialed by the parties prior to adjournment of the session. All items remain tentative until both parties approve the entire agreement.

# 13.8 Final Approval

When the final agreement has been reached on all items, the parties shall have the total agreement ratified by the District and the membership of the Association.

# 13.9 Distribution of Agreement

Within one (1) month of ratification of the Agreement by both parties, the employer agrees to print sufficient copies of the Agreement for distribution to all unit members.

#### ARTICLE XIV: ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

#### 14.1 Right to Represent

The Association shall have the right to represent unit members in employment relations with the District.

#### 14.2 Legal Rights

The District agrees not to impose or threaten to impose reprisals on unit members, discriminate against employees, or otherwise interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees because of their exercise of rights guaranteed by this Agreement, carrying out of this Agreement or filing any grievance hereunder.

### 14.3 Rights of Access, Communication and Use of Facilities

The Association shall have the right of access at reasonable times to areas in which employees work, the right to use bulletin boards, mail boxes, and other means of communication, subject to regulations and the right to use District facilities at reasonable times for the purposes of meetings concerned with the exercise of rights guaranteed in the Agreement.

#### 14.3.1 Access

Persons not members of the school staff who wish to come on the school site for Association matters during the school day shall notify the site administrator. Such visits shall be scheduled so as not to cause interruption to the school program or unit member's responsibilities.

#### 14.3.2 Communication

The Association shall be entitled to post notices of Association concern on a staff bulletin board in each school complex. The Association shall be entitled to the use of regular inter-school delivery services and mailboxes for communication to employees regarding matters which involve the Association, and they shall be dated and identified as to their origin. An Association representative shall be responsible for intra-school distribution of said communications, and the District for such communication shall impose no cost. A copy of general distribution Association material shall be sent to the Superintendent and each site administrator.

#### 14.3.3 Use of Facilities

The Association may use school facilities for meetings either before or following unit members' workday, subject to prior approval by the principal. Approval shall be granted when such use meets the following criteria:

- 1. Intended use does not extend beyond the time the school is usually open;
- 2. Use of such facilities does not conflict with previously scheduled use of such facilities or when the buildings are available for use:
- 3. The use does not require additional expense for custodial and/or other services;
- 4. A unit member has been identified as the responsible party;
- 5. One (1) day's prior notice has been given.
- 14.3.3.1 Meetings, which are scheduled to go beyond the time when school is open, must comply with the requirements applicable to all recognized organizations.
- 14.3.3.2 Should special custodial services be required or should there be any damage in excess of normal wear, the District shall make a reasonable charge for such service or damage.
- 14.3.3.3 The Association shall indicate names of unit members authorized to accept Association responsibility for such use of facilities.

#### 14.4 Board Agendas

The District shall provide to the Association two (2) copies of the Board agenda and unapproved minutes of prior Board meetings in advance of each Board meeting.

Mondays, following the workday, are reserved for Association activity. No required District or school site functions shall be scheduled on Mondays.

14.5.1 Members of FMEA's Board of Directors and Representative Council shall be released on Monday meeting days after students have been dismissed for the instructional day. Such time shall be made up at a time(s) mutually agreed between the unit member and the site administrator. (See Appendix F)

#### 14.6 Employee Names

The District shall provide the Association with names and assignments of all bargaining unit personnel no later than July 30 of each school year and all bargaining unit personnel employed after September 30 of each year within thirty (30) days of employment.

#### ARTICLE XV: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 15.1 It is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control to the full extent of the law.
  - 15.1.1 Included in, but not limited to, those duties and powers are the exclusive rights to: determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided, and the methods and means of providing them; establish its educational policies, goals and objectives; determine staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of District operations; determine the curriculum; build, move or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation; determine the methods of raising revenue; contract out work; and take action on any matter in the event of an The Board retains the right to hire, classify, assign, evaluate, transfer, promote, and terminate unit members. In addition, the Board retains the right to discipline unit members consistent with the provisions of the California Education Code.
  - The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with the law.
  - 15.1.3 The District retains its right to amend, modify or rescind policies and practices referred to in this Agreement in cases of emergency.
  - "Emergency" as used in this section refers to conflagrations; earthquake; flood; pestilence; plague; war; famine; civil unrest; national or state proclaimed days of mourning; observances or holidays; or other occurrences which interrupt normal operation of the schools and over which the Governing Board has no control.
  - 15.1.5 Tuesdays are reserved for District activity. No Association functions shall be scheduled on this day. The Association shall not hold any local school meetings on Tuesday until the end of the work day as specified by each on-site administrator; however, if the Association meeting shall conflict with a school or District activity, no Association meeting shall be held on Tuesday.

#### ARTICLE XVI: NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT

16.1

The Franklin-McKinley Education Association and the District agree that differences between the parties hereto shall be settled by peaceful means as provided in this Agreement. During the term of this Agreement, the Franklin-McKinley Education Association, in consideration of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, shall not engage in, instigate, or condone any strike, work stoppage or any concerted refusal to perform work duties as required in this Agreement, and shall undertake to exert its best efforts to discourage any such acts by any employees in the bargaining unit. During the term of this Agreement, the District, in consideration of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, shall not authorize or permit any lockout of Franklin-McKinley Education Association members or other persons covered by this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE XVII: EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

# 17.1 Support of Agreement

The District and the Association agree that it is to their mutual benefit to encourage the resolution of differences through the meet and negotiation process. Therefore, it is agreed that the Association shall support this Agreement for its terms and shall not seek change or improvement in any matter subject to the meet and negotiation process except by mutual agreement of the District and the Association.

17.1.1 A pilot program may deviate from the provisions of the Agreement on an annual basis with the approval of the Board of Education, FMEA, and all unit members directly involved.

#### 17.2 Complete Understanding

It is understood and agreed that the specific provisions contained in this Agreement shall prevail over District practices and procedures and over State laws to the extent permitted by State law and that, in the absence of specific provisions in this Agreement, such practices and procedures are discretionary.

### 17.3 Completion of Agreement

During the term of this Agreement, except when negotiating a successor agreement, the Association expressly waives and relinquishes the right to meet and negotiate. The Association agrees that the District shall not be obligated to meet and negotiate with respect to any subject or matter whether or not referred to or covered in this Agreement. This is true even though each subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both the District or the Association at the time they met and negotiated on and executed this Agreement, and even though such subjects or matters were proposed and later withdrawn.

#### 17.4 Individual Contracts

Any individual contract between the District and an individual member shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If an individual contract contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this contract, during its duration, shall be controlling.

#### 17.5 Savings

17.5.1 If any provisions of the Agreement are held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions shall not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent

permitted by law, but all other provisions shall continue in full force and effect.

17.5.2 Should a provision or application be deemed invalid, the parties shall meet not later than ten (10) days after such court decision to renegotiate the provision or provisions affected.

#### 17.6 Miscellaneous

- 17.6.1 The Association agrees that it shall not take any reprisals against any management employee or Board member regarding the administration of this Agreement, or any grievance filed hereunder.
- 17.6.2 There shall be two (2) signed copies of the final Agreement for record-keeping purposes. One (1) shall be retained by the District and one (1) by the Association.

#### ARTICLE XVIII: TEACHER RIGHTS

#### 18.1 Personal and Academic Freedom

- 18.1.1 Academic freedom shall be guaranteed to staff members in the study, investigation, representation and interpretation of facts or ideas concerning mankind, human society, the physical and biological world, and other branches of learning subject to accepted standards of professional responsibility with due regard to maturity level of the student, community expectations, District rules and policies, and the laws of the State of California.
- 18.1.2 This District recognizes that the personal life of a staff member is not an appropriate concern of the District, except as it may affect work performance.

#### 18.2 Sexual Harassment/Harassment

A unit member who alleges sexual harassment/harassment shall follow procedures in District Policy 4119.11 (see Appendix E)

- The District shall establish and regularly update a webpage on the District's website, which shall provide employment-related information including certificated and classified vacancies.
- 18.4 Participation in Teacher Training

Unit members who wish to participate in teacher training opportunities shall be released, at no loss in pay and benefits, to attend such opportunities upon written approval of the site administrator and the administrator covering the cost of the substitute and other costs related to attendance at these training opportunities. Such approval shall be submitted on a form developed by the Human Resources Office. A copy is to be returned by the unit member, a copy to be returned to site and the site administrator to forward a copy to the Human Resources Office.

- 18.4.1 Unit members who are not assigned to work on a given day(s) and are requested to attend training opportunities shall have the option to attend and to receive professional growth (or, if offered, college credit) or be paid at the rate as specified in Section 3.3 for attendance at such workshops. If the unit member chooses the college credit option then he/she shall pay the expense for tuition.
- 18.4.2 Consideration shall be given by the site administrator to a unit member's request to be excused from participation in a staff development offering if he/she has attended an equivalent

session in the past.

Before a class is split, the principal shall consider utilizing the following available personnel:

Principal
Vice Principal
Project Specialist
Curriculum Support Specialist
Credentialed non-classroom assigned personnel

(The above list of personnel is not in any order of priority.)

When classes are split between two (2) or more unit members, because all of the above-referenced personnel are not available, said unit members shall receive the rate specified in Section 3.3 on a pro rata basis.

#### ARTICLE XIX: SITE-BASED DECISION MAKING

19.1 Site-based decision making is a joint planning and problem solving process that seeks to improve the quality of working life and education.

At this time, the District does not have a formal site-based decision making process implemented. All parties need a more clearly defined model of site-based decision making.

Therefore, by July 15, 1999, a joint committee shall be formed, composed-of four (4) District designated members and four (4) FMEA designated members with joint chairpersons. The committee shall meet over the next school year to explore the concept of site-based decision making. Any specific written agreements for the key issues that are reached shall be forwarded to the District's and FMEA's negotiating teams for consideration 45 days prior to the end of the 1999-2000 school year.

The committee shall consider, but not be limited to, the following critical issues:

- 1. Philosophy, goals and objectives
- 2. Scope of decisions/recommendations
- 3. Methods for initiation within a school site
- 4. Who the participants in the process shall be
- 5. Participant's roles
- 6. Responsibilities of site committees
- 7. Relationship to collective bargaining
- 8. Which decisions are site level and which are District Level
- 9. Training and release time
- 10. Funding
- 11. Communication vehicles-both internal and external
- 12. Rotation and roving issues at individual school sites
- 19.2 Unit members shall have input into District-wide or school-level staff development.

The Association and District agree to study educational reform to create an atmosphere of innovation and experimentation to improve student learning within a climate that does not violate the rights of either party (including, but not limited to Charter Schools), and to form a partnership for the implementation of agreed-upon District Board of Education goals. Prior to implementation, any program of significant educational reform (including a Charter School proposal) shall be discussed with the Association.

#### ARTICLE XX PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW

- 20.1 Principles: GOAL to improve the quality of teaching by assisting all teachers to expand and grow in their ability to:
  - A. engage and support all students in learning
  - B. create and maintain effective environments for student learning
  - C. understand and organize subject matter for student learning
  - D. plan instruction and design learning experiences for all students
  - E. assess student learning
  - F. develop as a professional educator

PAR is not to be punitive nor provide a means to terminate employment.

#### 20.2 Definitions

- 20.2.1 Peer assistance and review (PAR) The peer assistance and review program is a critical feedback mechanism that allows exemplary teachers to assist other teachers.
- 20.2.2 Consulting Teachers (CT) A teacher who provides assistance to a participating teacher (PT) in the PAR Program.
- Joint Committee (JC) The governing body that administers the PAR Program and determines program guidelines that are consistent with the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) and related legislation.
- 20.2.4 Referred Participating Teacher (RPT) A permanent teacher referred by the evaluator to receive assistance as a result of an unsatisfactory evaluation in subject matter knowledge and/or teaching strategies.
- 20.2.5 Voluntary Participating Teacher (VPT) A teacher who volunteers to participate in the PAR Program because s/he would like to receive assistance.

- 20.3 PAR money may be used for the following purposes:
  - 20.3.1 Stipends for CTs
    - 20.3.1.1 \$2,000.00 on selection as a CT.
    - 20.3.1.2 \$1,200.00 per VPT, prorated on a 12 month basis.
    - 20.3.1.3 \$3,600.00 per RPT, prorated on a 12 month basis.
  - Annual stipends for JC teacher members of \$3,000.00 in the initial year of their terms; \$2,000.00 thereafter.
  - 20.3.3 Training for CTs and JC.
  - 20.3.4 Release time for JC, CTs, and PTs.
  - 20.3.5 Materials/supplies necessary to implement the program.
  - 20.3.6 Administrative support (5% maximum).
  - 20.3.7 Staff development.
  - 20.3.8 To allow veteran teachers to participate in monthly District New Teacher Project workshops and any other program that supports the training and development of new teachers with the approval of the Joint Committee.
  - 20.3.9 Franklin-McKinley New Teacher Project.
- Joint Committee serves as a governing body for the program and determines program guidelines that are consistent with the terms of the collective bargaining agreement and related legislation.
  - 20.4.1 The Joint Committee shall be composed of:
    - 20.4.1.1 Three permanent certificated classroom teachers and two administrators, all of whom shall serve staggered three years terms.
    - 20.4.1.2 Teacher members shall be selected through an election conducted by FMEA.
  - 20.4.2 Responsibilities of the Joint Committee
    - 20.4.2.1 Establish its own rules and procedures.
    - 20.4.2.2 Establish and administer the budget for the program, subject to Board approval.

- 20.4.2.3 Provide annual training for the CTs and JC members. If the annual training is while a unit member is off track, the unit member is entitled to sub pay, pursuant to the collective bargaining agreement,
- 20.4.2.4 Select the panel of CTs.
- 20.4.2.5 Select VPTs from among the applicants.
- 20.4.2.6 Annually determine number of CTs and create a pool of no more than ten CTs with representation from, but not limited to, Special Ed., K, 1-3, 4-6, and middle school based on:

Number of RPTs Number of VPTs Training needs of the CTs and JC.Release time needed by CTs, JC and PTs. Stipends for CTs and JC teacher members Administrative cost

- 20.4.2.7 Determine timeline for application and selection of CTs.
- 20.4.2.8 Select trainers and/or training providers.
- 20.4.2.9 Provide training for CTs prior to CTs' participation in the program.
- 20.4.2.10 Send written notification of participation in the PAR Program to the PT, the CT and the site principal.
- 20.4.2.11 Make every effort to match the PTs with their selected CTs with the joint Committee making the final appointments of all CTs.
- 20.4.2.12 Review documentation submitted by the CTs, including peer review reports prepared by CTs, and make recommendations to the Board regarding RPTs, including but not limited to, identifying RPTs who, after sustained assistance, are unable to demonstrate satisfactory improvement based on the PAR assistance plan developed by the CT and the RPT.
- 20.4.2.13 Analyze the semi-annual report of expenditures from the Business Office.
- 20.4.2.14 Evaluate annually the impact of the program and make recommendations to improve the program.

- 20.4.2.15 Identify appropriate staff development opportunities.
- 20.4.2.16 Insure that the RPT has top priority, VPT second, and all others only after these two obligations have been met.
- 20.5 Consulting Teacher A teacher who provides assistance to teachers participating in the PAR program.
  - 20.5.1 Eligibility requirements for CTs at time of application for selection:
    - 20.5.1.1 Permanent credentialed classroom teacher.
    - 20.5.1.2 Must have five years of teaching experience with at least three of the last five years in the classroom.
    - 20.5.1.3 May not simultaneously be a new teacher project advisor.
    - 20.5.1.4 Shall have demonstrated exemplary teaching ability as deemed by the JC and as indicated by:

Effective communication skills Subject matter knowledge Mastery of a range of teaching strategies

#### 20.5.2 Selection Process for CTs:

- 20.5.2.1 Majority vote of the JC.
- 20.5.2.2 At least two JC members (one teacher and one administrator) shall observe CT applicant simultaneously at a mutually agreeable time.
- 20.5.2.3 Applicant shall complete a written application form and submit two references, one from a peer and one from a current or former administrator supervisor.
- Applicants shall be notified as to status of application in a timely manner once a selection has been made.
- 20.5.2.5 CTs shall receive a stipend and be given priority for release time, if requested.
- 20.5.2.6 Duties of CT CTs shall assist PTs by demonstrating, observing, coaching, conferencing, referring or by other activities, which, in their professional judgment, will assist the PT.

- 20.5.2.7 Recommended caseload: 1:1 (CT: RPT), with a maximum of four PTs, of which only one can be an RPT.
- 20.5.2.8 CT shall meet with evaluator and RPT together to discuss evaluator's specific action plan for improvement of RPT.
- 20.5.2.9 The CT shall meet with the PT to discuss the PAR program, and develop the assistance plan, which shall address the evaluator's action plan for the RPT.
- 20.5.2.10 The CT shall conduct multiple observations of the RPT during classroom instruction and provide specific, immediate feedback after each visit.
- 20.5.2.11 The CT shall document all observations, visitations and meetings by maintaining a written log of contacts, visitations and meetings, and specific support given to each PT.
- 20.5.2.12 The CT shall meet regularly with RPT for observations/discussions.
- 20.5.2.13 The CT shall continue to provide assistance to the RPT until the CT concludes that further assistance is not necessary, but in no event longer than 12 months.
- A copy of the CT's report(s) shall be submitted to and discussed with the RPT to receive his or her signature before it is submitted to the JC.
- 20.5.2.15 The CT shall submit a peer review report to the JC.
  - 20.5.2.15.1 The report shall be confidential.
  - 20.5.2.15.2 Shall contain time, dates and topics regarding the RPT's participation in the program.
  - 20.5.2.15.3 Shall not be evaluative.
  - 20.5.2.15.4 Shall be written by CT.
  - 20.5.2.15.5 Shall be submitted to RPT and JC.
  - 20.5.2.15.6 Shall be made available as part of the summative evaluation and shall be made available to be placed in the personnel file by

	20.5.3	Term	the JC.
		20.5.3.1	Three years subject to annual review and renewal by JC.
		20.5.3.2	CT may reapply
20.6			ticipating teacher (VPT) - A teacher who volunteers to the PAR program because s/he would like to receive
	20.6.1	Any ba	argaining unit member.
	20.6.2	May ir	ndicate a preference for a CT from available pool.
	20.6.3	Applic PAR.	eation must include specific reason(s) for participation in
	20.6.4		have access to staff development release time/cost of ags) as determined by the JC.
	20.6.5	No rep	ort shall be required except CT's documentation.
	20.6.6	VPT c	an opt out of PAR program at any time.
	20.6.7		T shall meet with the VPT to discuss the PAR program

- 20.7 Referred Participating Teacher (RPT) A permanent classroom teacher referred by the Evaluator to receive assistance as a result of an unsatisfactory evaluation in areas of subject matter knowledge and/or teaching strategies.
  - 20.7.1 RPT shall have a plan developed by his or her evaluator that specifies the behaviors within the performance areas which need improvement and what is required to satisfy the plan's requirements. (Evaluator's specific action plan)
  - Areas of need that do not constitute subject matter knowledge or teaching strategies, shall not qualify a teacher to be referred to the PAR program. (Ex. —habitual tardiness or excessive absence)
  - 20.7.3 May indicate a preference for a CT from the available pool.
  - 20.7.4 RPT shall have access to staff development (release time and cost of offerings).

- 20.7.5 RPT shall have the right to attach a written response to the CT's report and shall be entitled to meet with the JC to discuss the report.
- 20.8 Staff development Training for JC and CTs may include, but not be limited to:

Team Building
Developmental Stages of Teaching Verbal Skills
Classroom Management
Adult Learning Theory
Mentoring and Coaching Skills
Budget Development
Conferencing Strategies
Intervention Strategies
Observation Techniques
Multiple Intelligence and Modalities
The Language of Report Writing

The Language of Report Writing
Staff Development -Training for participating teachers will be
aligned with the California Standards for the Teaching

Protection from lawsuits - The District agrees to indemnify and provide a defense for CTs and all members of the JC against any claims, causes of action, damages, administrative proceedings or any other litigation arising from the JC and CT's participation in PAR.

Profession

- Non-grievable A unit member shall not have access to the grievance procedure in the collective bargaining agreement in regard to any action taken by another unit member, or the JC, in connection with this Article.
- 20.11 Complaints A participating teacher or a CT shall be entitled to address complaints or concerns regarding PAR to the JC.

#### ARTICLE XXI DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES AND DISMISSAL

- 21.1 A unit member shall not be disciplined except for just cause.
- A unit member may be dismissed only according to the provisions of the <u>California Education Code</u>.
- Suspensions without pay, which exceed fifteen (15) days in length, shall be implemented according to the provisions of the <u>California</u> Education Code.
- Disciplinary action (other than dismissal) taken pursuant to this Article, including suspension without pay which are less than fifteen (15) days in length shall be grievable under Article X of this Agreement.
- Arbitration of reprimands shall be limited to one day. The parties agree that no briefs or court reporters will be required.

# Signature Page

Paula Boling

Assistant Superintendent

Scott Shulimson

FMEA President

Alic Victorine Lead Negotiator

# FMEA Members

Kris Clarke Lynette Irvine Julia Walle Talbot Veronica Andrade

# District Members

12020

Donna Williamson Jason Vann Marcela Miranda Yvonne Sugimura

# APPENDIX A

# Franklin-McKinley School District 2019/2020 Catastrophic Leave Form (Article 5.6) Donations/Withdrawal Request

Date:
Name:
School Site:
DEPOSITS (1 Day Per Year)
DEPOSITS (1 Day Fer Tear)
Current amount of accrued sick leave: days (minimum 10)
Date of Deposit:
This contribution shall be authorized and continued from year to year until cancelled by the unit member.
(5.6.2.4)
WITHDRAWALS  Withdrawal Request Date:
withdrawal Request Date
Number of days requesting to withdraw:
(30 day maximum)
Reason for Withdrawal Request (5.6.3.4):
Do you qualify for workers compensation benefits? YES NO
Are you eligible for a Disability Award, Retirement under STRS or Social Security?YESNO
Doctor's note attached/received?YESNO
(Must be received within twenty calendar days of the request. Failure to submit within the allocated time shall
disqualify the unit member from further Catastrophic Leave payments.) (5.6.3.7)
FOR HUMAN RESOURCES USE ONLY
Withdrawal Request: Approved
Denied Signature:
Reason for denial:
Keason for gental:

#### APPENDIX B

# Franklin-McKinley School District Board Policy Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage

BP 3515.4

#### **Business and Non-instructional Operations**

The Governing Board desires to create a safe and secure learning environment and to minimize acts of vandalism and damage to school property. To discourage such acts, the district shall seek reimbursement of damages, within the limitations specified in law, from any individual, or from the parent/guardian of any minor, who has committed theft or has willfully damaged district or employee property.

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan)

(cf. 3515 - Campus Security)

(cf. 4156.3/4256.3/4356.3 - Employee Property Reimbursement)

(cf. 4158/4258/4358 - Employee Security)

(cf. 5125.2 - Withholding Grades, Diploma or Transcripts)

(cf. 5131 - Conduct)

(cf. 5131.5 - Vandalism and Graffiti)

(cf. 5136 - Gangs)

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process)

#### Rewards

When district or law enforcement officials have not been able to identify the person(s) responsible for the theft or vandalism of district property, the Board may authorize a reward for the identification and apprehension of the responsible person(s).

The Board authorizes the Superintendent or designee to offer a reward in any amount he/she deems appropriate, not exceeding \$2.500. A reward in excess of \$2.500 shall be authorized in advance by the Board.

The Superintendent or designee shall disburse the reward when the guilt of the person responsible for the act has been established by a criminal conviction or other appropriate judicial procedure.

#### Legal Reference:

#### EDUCATION CODE

19910 Libraries, malicious cutting, tearing, defacing, breaking or injuring

19911 Libraries, willful detention of property

44810 Willful interference with classroom conduct

48904 Liability of parent/guardian for willful misconduct

#### CIVIL CODE

1714.1 Liability of parent or guardian for act of willful misconduct by a minor

GOVERNMENT CODE

53069.5 Reward for information concerning person causing death, injury, or property damage

53069.6 Actions to recover damages

54951 Local agency, definition

PENAL CODE

484 Theft defined

594 Vandalism

594.1 Acrosol paint and etching cream

640.5 Graffiti; facilities or vehicles of governmental entity

640.6 Graffiti

#### Management Resources:

**WEB SITES** 

CSBA: http://www.csba.org

California Department of Education: http://www.cde.ca.gov





# FRANKLIN-MORRILLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT

#### PROGRESHINIMARY EVALUATION REPORT

		72	DATE	PRESENT ASSIGN	CHOOLDEPT			
ROBAT	TOMARY	TEMURET	)	_PRESENT ASSIGN		COMPETITIVE	MATERIAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PARTY AND	LENGATESFACTOR
NGAG	NG AND SUPPORT	THIS ALL STUDEN	TS DI LEAGURING	(massessed by one o	r more of the			
<b>Mining</b>	relection, observat	DR. documentalism	er conferences).	i inheresis with learni	ra arcie			
				respond to state of				
3	Pacificaline Inamiru)	experiences that or	omože autonomy, k	micraction and choic	£.			
4.	Engaging students	in piniblem solving, i	ortical Ininiting and	other activities that	make subject			
-	mailini meaningiki. Promoting self-dired	ted reflection is an	ion the all charterits					-
5.	Manney to Law	MENT I SHOWARD ICHINI	-g	•				-
<b>MOER</b>	TAMBING AND OF	GAMEZING BUBJE	CT MATTER FOR	STUDENT LEARN	ONG (ZEGEGGEO			
y che d	more of the follow	ng reflection, observ	ration, documental	Bon or conferences).				
1. 2	Demonstrating Mai	menge or subject in on to compart chales	ales corpore and so of understanding of	ladesi devekçimeni. Film pubjest mailer.				•
1	<del>internal allin</del> g laisas, a	ed information will	n and autoes subje	et matter areas.				
4	Developing singers	understanding thro	agh instructional sit	lander हात कर नेत	actings to			
_	the subject resilier.			ed mater accessibl	o in challents			
5.	Uping materials, rei	Kidician and Incanio	oges o married					
	NG SISTRUCTION	AND DESIGNING	EARNING EIPE	REPROES FOR ALL	STUDENTS			
	al by one or muse of	the following relies	iton, observation, d	incomunication or co and developmental	Merchants)			
1.	Drawing on and va	أقفنا أعادياته وداعا	grounds, interests	ano omelopmental	entrang mesas.	-		
2	Establishing and at Developing and Se	ovencing grap to c	क्रमात्रक क्रमात्रक है। जो अधिकारिक स्थापित	gripatais for chadent is	-arrive			
4	Designing short-let	n 200 130g-1400 pt	ans to torder charter					
ŝ	Modifying Instruction	Acri brave in miles;	tu wedent names.	_				
					BARREY (Treatment			
CREAT	NG AND MARITAN	Mark CLLCC HAC C		FOR STUDENT LEA Bon or conferences)				
γναπ. 1.	Creating a physical	enderment that #	nances all shelenis					
ž	Establishing a clima	de Val provide C	IFFECE AND RESPECT					
3.	Promoting Social di	wetopinent and gra	up reciponsibility.			_		. <del></del>
4.	Establishing and m	antaning standard	TO CONCEPT DENSE	ter. Litres that support c	hulani leamini			<del></del>
5.	Catholical Catholical		H0000000	mines nerr emblyor e				
6.	Outly residence	ene unconvery.						
			by one or more of	The Iolianing reflect	lon, observation,			
an curine	ntalitan or conferenc	<b>65</b> ).						
1.	Establishing and o	and the course	ang guan nu an sa At indonesian in ta	proces chalent learns	-			
3	involving and guid	rny ratiografie action in a Brown all subsidering in a	Macanina their own	leamino.				-
4,	i lities the results o	of manual/febble to 0	wide instruction.					
5.	Communication of	dh chuircis, Camile	s and cities andien	ces about student pr	ogress.	_		
6.	Evidence of active	ASSURED EMPTOR MIS	search draws rever e	tandards on district	garanna.			
OFVE (	IONIG AS A PROF	FUSIONAL FOLICA	TOR (assessed to	y one or more of the	Rollowing			
reflectio	n, docervation, docu	energialitan ar contin	RETICOS).		_			
1.	Releating on tea	ching practice and p	taming profession	sa development.				
2. 3.	Harmonic ben	Marigas po publica. Marigas deres suo i	orania obbana wa	es lo gravi profession tre	Kang.			
ì	Medical with Seri	Mor to publish by the second s	e provincia practice.	<b></b>		=		
5.	Westing with coll	CONTRACTOR (CONTRACTOR (CONTRACTOR)	والمراوع الحالو فعدالات	se.				
6.	Confider with an	dnici established M	es, regulations, poi	icies, contracts and			-	
	koymeni Resonins	and and	NB	Yes with qu	addroilmes.			
(All 2005) (All 2005)	s marked for impro- lifealizes, the 4476	rement must be full salor must indicate (	ment streake) of the	Recommendations of e-evaluation are the f FIONS AND RECOM	HAVE THE PECON	ymendallon is b unendalluri).	estig made for i	complyvent
i have r	eceived a sopy of th	is evaluation. I smo	lendand that my 60	gnature does not ned	security indicate a	greement with I	s content. I fur	Ther understan
ihai i m	ay append a slaten	ent to t <b>his exalcat</b> o	n wilinia ten (19) da	she.				
	Emplo	yee Signaliure			Evan	iator Signature		
		Drake		_		Cude		
		Chairbuilea	White Decemen	s Dept. Yellow:	School/Cleat Pi	nt. Employee		
			THE PERMIT					
neer ni	G (Rev. 6/01)							

# APPENDIX D

# FRANKLIN-MCKINLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT CERTIFICATED STAFF OBJECTIVE FORM

	tee:	Position:	
Evalu	ıator:		Position:
Scho	ol Year:		Date:
ı	Objective: Be explicit. St	ate desired outcome and method	d of measuring results.
Ac In	tion Plan: State steps or a dicate approximate date w	ctivities that will be conducted then each will be completed. Als document completion.	to achieve the objectives. so indicate how you will
ASSES	SSMENT OF RESULTS (	To be completed by evaluatee a	nd reviewed by Evaluator).
Check	Objective was: Fully Achieved Partially Achieved Not Achieved (*) In Progress (*)	Reviewed by Evaluator: Concur with Evalua Don't Concur	atee's Assessment
(*) Note:	Explanations required; us Attach to Progress/Summ		

# Franklin-McKinley ESD

# **Board Policy**

Sexual Harassment

BP 4119.11

Personnel

The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees. The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify, or otherwise participate in the complaint process established pursuant to this policy and accompanying administrative regulation. This policy shall apply to all district employees and, when applicable, to interns, volunteers, and job applicants.

(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment)

The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual harassment. including but not limited to:

- 1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation
- 2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff

(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications)

- 3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints
- 4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of the complainant and the alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments

All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (2 CCR 11023)

Any district employee who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator, or Superintendent.

A supervisor, principal, or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent or designee.

Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR  $4030\,$  -

Nondiscrimination in Employment. An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint.

Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy is subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal.

(cf. 4118 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action)

(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action)

#### Legal Reference:

EDUCATION CODE

200-262.4 Prohibition of discrimination on the basis of sex

**GOVERNMENT CODE** 

12900-12996 Fair Employment and Housing Act, especially:

12940 Prohibited discrimination

12950.1 Sexual harassment training

LABOR CODE

1101 Political activities of employees

1102.1 Discrimination: sexual orientation

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 2

11009 Employment discrimination

11021 Retaliation

11023 Harassment and discrimination prevention and correction

11024 Sexual harassment training and education

11034 Terms, conditions, and privileges of employment

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5

4900-4965 Nondiscrimination in elementary and secondary education programs receiving state financial assistance

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42

2000d-2000d-7 Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964

2000e-2000e-17 Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended

2000h-2-2000h-6 Title IX, 1972 Education Act Amendments

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34

106.9 Dissemination of policy

COURT DECISIONS

Department of Health Services v. Superior Court of California, (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1026

Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, (1998) 118 S.Ct. 2275

Burlington Industries v. Ellreth, (1998) 118 S.Ct. 2257

Gebser v. Lago Vista Independent School District. (1998) 118 S.Ct. 1989

Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Serv. Inc., (1998) 118 S.Ct. 998

Meritor Savings Bank, FSB v. Vinson et al., (1986) 447 U.S. 57

#### Management Resources:

OFFICE OF CIVIL RIGHTS AND NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ATTORNEYS GENERAL.

Protecting Students from Harassment and Hate Crime, January 1999

#### WEB SITES

California Department of Fair Employment and Housing: http://www.dfch.ca.gov Equal Employment Opportunity Commission: http://www.eeoc.gov U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights: http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/index.html

Policy FRANKLIN-MCKINLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT adopted: August 22, 2017 San Jose, California

# APPENDIX F

RELEASE FORM – FMEA BOARD OF DIRECT COUNCIL	FORS AND REPRESENTATIVE	
SCHOOL YEAR		
I am a member of the FMEA		
Board of Directors Representative Council		
Attending Monday meetings of this groups requ before the regular work day ends on days these me	ire that I leave school mir eetings are held.	nutes
My plan for making up this on-site time is as follo	ows:	
Employee	Date	
Approved by Site Administrator	Date	

# Franklin-McKinley School District Certificated Salary Schedule for FY 2018-2019 184 Work Days (11 Month)

	B.A.	B.A. + 30	B.A. + 45	B.A. + 60	B.A. + 75
	1	11	<u>                                     </u>	IV	V
1	52,907.78	59,961.75	63,152.20	_	<u>-</u>
2	54,341.40	62,753.40	65,942.36	69,134.29	·
3	57,345.05	65,543.56	68,735.49	71,925.94	75,114.90
4		68,336.68	71,525.65	74,716.10	77,906.54
5		71,126.84	74,317.29	77,506.26	80,698.19
6		73,917.00	77,107.45	80,299.38	83,489.83
7		76,708.64	79,897.61	83,089.54	86,279.99
8		79,498.80	82,690.73	85,881.18	89,070.15
9		82,291.93	85,480.89	88,671.34	91,861.79
10		85,082.09	88,272.54	91,461.50	94,653.43
11		87,872.25	91,062.70	94,254.63	97,445.08
12		90,663.89	93,852.86	97,044.79	100,235.24

Master's Incentive Increment: \$1500

Additional Master's Incentive Increment is added when applicable: \$1500

Doctorate Incentive Increment: \$1500

Longevity Increments: Classification II, III, IV, and V only:

(Based on years of service in the Franklin-McKinley School District)

 14th through 17th year:
 \$1,500

 18th through 21st year:
 \$3,000

 22nd through 25th year:
 \$4,500

 26th year and thereafter:
 \$6,000

# Franklin-McKinley School District Psychologist/Nurse/Speech Therapist/Social Worker Annual Salary Schedule Fiscal Year 2018 - 2019

# (194 Work Days)

Years of Experience	Annual Salary	75+ Units
First	\$77,399.51	\$81,624.78
Second	\$81,266.00	\$85,500.17
Third	\$85,341.54	\$89,572.73
Fourth	\$89,556.43	\$93,792.07
Fifth	\$94,020.39	\$98,239.72
Sixth	\$98,708.21	\$102,932.00
Seventh	\$103,710.34	\$107,923.74

Master's Incentive Increment: \$1500

Additional Master's Incentive Increment is added when applicable: \$1500

Doctorate Incentive Increment: \$1500

#### Longevity Increments:

(Based on years of service in the Franklin-McKinley School District.)

 14th through 17th year:
 \$1,500

 18th through 21st year:
 \$3,000

 22nd through 25th year:
 \$4,500

 26th year and thereafter:
 \$6,000

Effective 7/1/2019 Maintain 2.5% Increase in 18-19

# SIDE LETTER - OBLIGATION TO BARGAIN

The parties acknowledge an obligation to bargain, upon request, regarding the impact of the Reinvesting in California Schools Act Initiative, if enacted, which affects the terms of this Agreement.

#### California Education Code - §48900.

A pupil shall not be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion, unless the superintendent or the principal of the school in which the pupil is enrolled determines that the pupil has committed an act as defined pursuant to any of subdivisions (a) to (r), inclusive:

- (a) (1) Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person.
- (2) Willfully used force or violence upon the person of another, except in self-defense.
- (b) Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished a firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object, unless, in the case of possession of an object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal.
- (c) Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of, a controlled substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11053) of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind.
- (d) Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell a controlled substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11053) of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind, and either sold, delivered, or otherwise furnished to a person another liquid, substance, or material and represented the liquid, substance, or material as a controlled substance, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant.
- (c) Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion.
- (f) Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property.
- (g) Stolen or attempted to steal school property or private property.
- (h) Possessed or used tobacco, or products containing tobacco or nicotine products, including, but not limited to, eigarettes, eigars, miniature eigars, clove eigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products.
- (i) Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity.
- (j) Unlawfully possessed or unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell drug paraphernalia, as defined in Section 11014.5 of the Health and Safety Code.
- (k) Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.

- (i) Knowingly received stolen school property or private property.
- (m) Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm.
- (n) Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Section 261, 266c, 286. 288, 288a, or 289 of the Penal Code or committed a sexual battery as defined in Section 243.4 of the Penal Code.
- (o) Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or a witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both.
- (p) Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug Soma.
- (q) Engaged in, or attempted to engage in, hazing. For purposes of this subdivision, "hazing" means a method of initiation or preinitiation into a pupil organization or body, whether or not the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational institution, which is likely to cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or disgrace resulting in physical or mental harm to a former, current, or prospective pupil. For purposes of this subdivision, "hazing" does not include athletic events or school-sanctioned events.
- (r) Engaged in an act of bullying, including, but not limited to, bullying committed by means of an electronic act, as defined in subdivisions (f) and (g) of Section 32261, directed specifically toward a pupil or school personnel.
- (s) A pupil shall not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts enumerated in this section, unless that act is related to school activity or school attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent of the school district or principal or occurring within any other school district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts that are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or attendance that occur at any time, including, but not limited to, any of the following:
- (1) While on school grounds.
- (2) While going to or coming from school.
- (3) During the lunch period whether on or off the campus.
- (4) During, or while going to or coming from, a school sponsored activity.
- (t) A pupil who aids or abets, as defined in Section 31 of the Penal Code, the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury to another person may be subject to suspension, but not expulsion, pursuant to this section, except that a pupil who has been adjudged by a juvenile court to have committed, as an aider and abettor, a crime of physical violence in which the victim suffered great bodily injury or serious bodily injury shall be subject to discipline pursuant to subdivision (a).

- (u) As used in this section, "school property" includes, but is not limited to, electronic files and databases.
- (v) A superintendent of the school district or principal may use his or her discretion to provide alternatives to suspension or expulsion, including, but not limited to, counseling and an anger management program, for a pupil subject to discipline under this section.
- (w) It is the intent of the Legislature that alternatives to suspension or expulsion be imposed against a pupil who is truant, tardy, or otherwise absent from school activities

# California Education Code - §48910

- (a) A teacher may suspend any pupil from class, for any of the acts enumerated in Section 48900, for the day of the suspension and the day following. The teacher shall immediately report the suspension to the principal of the school and send the pupil to the principal or the designee of the principal for appropriate action. If that action requires the continued presence of the pupil at the schoolsite, the pupil shall be under appropriate supervision, as defined in policies and related regulations adopted by the governing board of the school district. As soon as possible, the teacher shall ask the parent or guardian of the pupil to attend a parent-teacher conference regarding the suspension. If practicable, a school counselor or a school psychologist may attend the conference. A school administrator shall attend the conference if the teacher or the parent or guardian so requests. The pupil shall not be returned to the class from which he or she was suspended, during the period of the suspension, without the concurrence of the teacher of the class and the principal.
- (b) A pupil suspended from a class shall not be placed in another regular class during the period of suspension. However, if the pupil is assigned to more than one class per day this subdivision shall apply only to other regular classes scheduled at the same time as the class from which the pupil was suspended.
- (c) A teacher may also refer a pupil, for any of the acts enumerated in Section 48900, to the principal or the designee of the principal for consideration of a suspension from the school.

#### California Education Code - §49079

- (a) A school district shall inform the teacher of each pupil who has engaged in, or is reasonably suspected to have engaged in, any of the acts described in any of the subdivisions, except subdivision (h), of Section 48900 or in Section 48900.2, 48900.3, 48900.4, or 48900.7 that the pupil engaged in, or is reasonably suspected to have engaged in, those acts. The district shall provide the information to the teacher based upon any records that the district maintains in its ordinary course of business, or receives from a law enforcement agency, regarding a pupil described in this section.
- (b) A school district, or school district officer or employee, is not civilly or criminally liable for providing information under this section unless it is proven that the information was false and that the district or district officer or employee knew or should have known that the information was false, or the information was provided with a reckless disregard for its truth or falsity.
- (c) An officer or employee of a school district who knowingly fails to provide information about a pupil who has engaged in, or who is reasonably suspected to have engaged in, the acts referred to in subdivision (a) is guilty of a misdemeanor, which is punishable by confinement in the county jail for a period not to exceed six months, or by a fine not to exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or both.
- (d) For the 1994-95 school year, the information provided shall be from the previous two school years. For the 1996-97 school year and each school year thereafter, the information provided shall be from the previous three school years.
- (c) Any information received by a teacher pursuant to this section shall be received in confidence for the limited purpose for which it was provided and shall not be further disseminated by the teacher.

#### APPENDIX - J

# California Education Code - §44977.5

- (a)(1) Notwithstanding any other law, during each school year, a person employed in a position requiring certification qualifications may use his or her sick leave for purposes of parental leave for a period of up to 12 workweeks.
- (2) In school districts that use the differential pay system described in Section 44977, when a person employed in a position requiring certification qualifications has exhausted all available sick leave, including all accumulated sick leave, and continues to be absent from his or her duties on account of parental leave pursuant to Section 12945.2 of the Government Code, the amount deducted from the salary due him or her for any of the remaining portion of the 12-workweek period in which the absence occurs shall not exceed the sum that is actually paid a substitute employee employed to fill his or her position during his or her absence or, if no substitute employee was employed, the amount that would have been paid to a substitute had he or she been employed. The school district shall make every reasonable effort to secure the services of a substitute employee.
- (3) In school districts that use the differential pay system described in Section 44983, when a person employed in a position requiring certification qualifications has exhausted all available sick leave, including all accumulated sick leave, and continues to be absent from his or her duties on account of parental leave pursuant to Section 12945.2 of the Government Code, the person shall be compensated at no less than 50 percent of his or her regular salary for the remaining portion of the 12-workweek period of parental leave.
- (b) For purposes of subdivision (a), all of the following apply:
- (1) The 12-workweek period shall be reduced by any period of sick leave, including accumulated sick leave, taken during a period of parental leave.
- (2) A person employed in a position requiring certification qualifications shall not be provided more than one 12-week period for parental leave during any 12-month period.
- (3) Parental leave taken pursuant to this section shall run concurrently with parental leave taken pursuant to Section 12945.2 of the Government Code . The aggregate amount of parental leave taken pursuant to this section and Section 12945.2 of the Government Code shall not exceed 12 workweeks in a 12-month period.
- (c) This section shall be applicable whether or not the absence from duty is by reason of a leave of absence granted by the governing board of the employing school district.
- (d) Notwithstanding subdivision (a) of Section 12945.2 of the Government Code, a person employed in a position requiring certification qualifications is not required to have 1,250 hours of service with the employer during the previous 12-month period in order to take parental leave pursuant to this section.

- (e) Nothing in this section shall be construed to diminish the obligation of a public school employer to comply with any collective bargaining agreement entered into by a public school employer and an exclusive bargaining representative pursuant to Chapter 10.7 (commencing with Section 3540) of Division 4 of Title 1 of the Government Code that provides greater parental leave rights to employees than the rights established under this section.
- (f) For purposes of this section, "\* \* \* parental leave" means leave for reason of the birth of a child of the employee, or the placement of a child with an employee in connection with the adoption or foster care of the child by the employee.

#### APPENDIX - K

#### California Education Code - §44978.2

- (a)(1) In addition to any other entitlement for leave of absence for illness or injury with pay, a certificated employee hired on or after, or employed on or after. January 1, 2017, who is a former active duty member of the Armed Forces of the United States or a former or current member of the California National Guard or a federal reserve component, with a service-connected disability rated at 30 percent or more by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs, shall be entitled to leave of absence for illness or injury with pay of up to 10 days for the purpose of undergoing medical treatment, including mental health treatment, for his or her service-connected disability.
- (2) Credit for leave of absence for illness or injury granted under this subdivision shall be credited to a qualifying certificated employee on the effective date of the employee's disability rating decision from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs, or on the first day the qualifying certificated employee begins, or returns to, employment after active duty, whichever is later, and shall remain available for use for the following 12 months of employment.
- (3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2), credit for leave of absence for illness or injury granted under this subdivision shall be credited to a certificated employee on the date the employee receives confirmation of submission of his or her disability application to the United States Department of Veterans Affairs. When the certificated employee receives his or her disability rating decision from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs, the employee shall report that information to the employer. If the certificated employee's disability rating decision makes the employee ineligible pursuant to paragraph (1), the employer may change the leave of absence for illness or injury time used before the disability rating decision to an alternative leave balance. If the certificated employee's disability rating decision makes the employee eligible pursuant to paragraph (1), the employee shall be entitled to 10 days for the purpose of undergoing medical treatment, including mental health treatment, for his or her service-connected disability minus the time used before the disability rating decision, for the 12-month period beginning with the confirmation of submission of his or her disability application.
- (4) Leave of absence for illness or injury credited pursuant to this subdivision that is not used during the 12-month period shall not be carried over and shall be forfeited.
- (5) Submission of satisfactory proof that a leave of absence for illness or injury granted under this subdivision is used for treatment of a service-connected disability may be required pursuant to rules adopted by the governing board of a school district.
- (b) A certificated employee, as described in subdivision (a), employed less than 5 days per week, shall be entitled to that proportion of 10 days' leave of absence for illness or injury granted pursuant to subdivision (a) as the number of days he or she is employed per week bears to 5.

(c) Nothing in this section shall be construed to diminish the obligation of a public school employer to comply with any collective bargaining agreement entered into by a public school employer and an exclusive bargaining representative pursuant to Chapter 10.7 (commencing with Section 3540) of Division 4 of Title 1 of the Government Code that provides greater leave of absence rights to employees than the rights established under this section.